



Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform · Working Paper #013

APRIL 2023

Addressing Gender Inequalities and Strengthening Women's Agency to Create More Climate-Resilient and Sustainable Food Systems

By Elizabeth Bryan, Muzna Alvi, Sophia Huyer and Claudia Ringler



This publication is copyrighted by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). © FAO, 2023.

It is licensed for use under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO) license. To view this license, visit <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc -sa/3.0/igo/</u>

Unless otherwise noted, you are free to share (copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format) and adapt (remix, transform and build upon the material), under the following conditions:

() ATTRIBUTION. The work must be attributed, but not in any way that suggests endorsement by FAO, CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform or the author(s).

ISBN: 92-9146-776-6

Citation: Bryan, E., Alvi, M., Huyer, S., and Ringler, C. 2023. *Addressing Gender Inequalities and Strengthening Women's Agency for Climate-Resilient and Sustainable Food Systems*. CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform Working Paper #013. Nairobi, Kenya: CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform. <u>https://hdl.handle.net/10568/129709</u>.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This review relied on a recent systematic review of gender and climate-smart agriculture by Nitya Chanana. We greatly appreciate Nitya sharing the reference list from the review with us. We also thank Avni Misra for supporting this paper through an additional literature search and Linda Etale for coorganizing the review process. This paper also benefited from two external reviews by Joshua Eastin and Sarah Gammage and we thank the reviewers for their time and thoughtful comments. Thanks are also due to the team at the Inclusive Rural Transformation and Gender Equality Division at the FAO for guiding the development of this paper; thanks especially to Susan Kaaria (now with AWARD) for initiating this process, and Erdgin Mane, Lauren Phillips, Libor Stloukal, Vanya Slavchevska, Valentina Costa, Benjamin Davis, Nick Sitko, Omnia Rizk, Maurizio Furst and Ilaria Sisto for providing input at various stages of this paper's development. The CGIAR Generating Evidence and New Directions for Equitable Results (GENDER) Impact Platform is grateful for the support of CGIAR Trust Fund Contributors (www.cgiar.org/funders) and in particular wishes to thank the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations for supporting this work (https://www.fao.org/home/en).

ABOUT THIS SERIES

The working paper, produced by the CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform, is one in <u>a series of analytical</u> <u>working papers</u> by our researchers. They were produced to inform the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations to write the 2023 report on the *Status of Rural Women in Agri-food Systems.**

These evidence-based papers address key themes important for gender and social equality, and women's empowerment in agriculture and food systems. They each discuss:

- current status and emerging thinking
- the theme's relevance for transformative change toward more inclusive food systems
- the evolution of equality in agriculture and food systems over the past 10 years in low- and middle-income countries
- what has proved effective to ease structural constraints, and promote equality and empowerment
- specific suggestions about interventions, programs and policies that can help make agriculture and food systems more inclusive.

COVER PHOTO CREDIT: Felix Clay/Duckrabbit/WorldFish. *Weeding maize, Mongu, Western Zambia*.

ABOUT CGIAR GENDER IMPACT PLATFORM

Generating Evidence and New Directions for Equitable Results (GENDER) is CGIAR's impact platform designed to put gender equality at the forefront of global agricultural research for development. The Platform is transforming the way gender research is done, both within and beyond CGIAR, to kick-start a process of genuine change toward greater gender equality and better lives for smallholder farmers everywhere. gender.cgiar.org.

^{*} FAO. 2023. The Status of Women in Agri-food Systems. Rome.

DISCLAIMER

This working paper has gone through a process of nonblinded peer review by two reviewers external to the CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform, and has also been reviewed by the FAO team working on the 2023 FAO report on the *Status of Rural Women in Agri-food Systems*. The views expressed in this publication are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations nor of the CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform.

CONTACT

Elizabeth Bryan, International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), <u>e.bryan@cgiar.org</u> (*Corresponding author*)

CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform Working Paper #013

APRIL 2023

Addressing Gender Inequalities and Strengthening Women's Agency for Climate-Resilient and Sustainable Food Systems

Elizabeth Bryan

International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) <u>e.bryan@cgiar.org</u> (Corresponding author)

Sophia Huyer

International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI) <u>s.huyer@cgiar.org</u>

Muzna Alvi

International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) <u>m.alvi@cgiar.org</u>

Claudia Ringler

International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) <u>c.ringler@cgiar.org</u>

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstı	act		v
1.	Introduction: the case for gender equity in climate action		1
2.	Gender inequalities and climate change: defining the relationship		2
	2.1	Gender differences in exposure, and sensitivity to climate shocks and stressors	2
	2.2	Gender inequality in adaptive capacities	4
	2.3	Gender differences in climate change response preferences and choices	6
	2.4	Lack of gender integration in policies, investments and interventions	7
	2.5	Gender inequality in outcomes of climate change responses	8
3.	Reducing gender inequality through climate action: what strategies are effective?		10
	3.1	Gender- and environment-sensitive social protection	10
	3.2	Collective climate action through group-based approaches	11
	3.3	Gender-sensitive design and dissemination of climate information services	12
	3.4	Design and dissemination of inclusive financial products	12
	3.5	Gender-responsive climate policies and investments at multiple scales	13
	3.6	Large integrated programs	13
	3.7	Integrating activities aimed at women's empowerment and gender equality	14
4.	Projected benefits of closing gender gaps in climate action		14
5.	Conclusions		16
REFE	REFERENCES		
Anne	Annex and glossary (<u>available online</u>)		

Abstract

Climate change affects every aspect of the food system, including all nodes along agrifood value chains from production to consumption, the food environments in which people live, and outcomes, such as diets and livelihoods. Women and men often have specific roles and responsibilities within food systems, yet structural inequalities (formal and informal) limit women's access to resources, services and agency. These inequalities affect the ways in which women and men experience and are affected by climate change. In addition to gender, other social factors are at play, such as age, education, marital status, and health and economic conditions. To date, most climate change policies, investments, and interventions do not adequately integrate gender. If climate-smart and climate-resilient interventions do not adequately take gender differences into account, they might exacerbate gender inequalities in food systems by, for instance, increasing women's labor burden and time poverty, reducing their access to and control over income and assets, and reducing their decision-making power. At the same time, women's contributions are critical to make food systems more resilient to the negative impacts of climate change, given their specialized knowledge, skills and roles in agrifood systems, within the household, at work and at the community level. Increasing the resilience of food systems requires going beyond addressing gendered vulnerabilities to climate change to create an enabling environment that supports gender equality and women's empowerment, by removing structural barriers and rigid gender norms, and building equal power dynamics, as part of a process of gender-transformative change.

Keywords: gender equality, social equality, women's empowerment, food systems, climate change, resilience

1. Introduction: the case for gender equity in climate action

Climate change poses considerable risk to food systems in low- and middle-income countries (LMIC) and fragile contexts (IPCC 2022, p. 9–10). The negative impacts span beyond production to other aspects of the food system, including along agri-food value chains from production to consumption, the food environments in which people live, and outcomes such as diets and livelihoods (Fanzo et al. 2018). Climate change has already jeopardized progress made in reducing food and nutrition insecurity, compounding multiple threats already faced by marginalized communities in LMICs, including the COVID-19 pandemic, civil war and other conflict (FAO et al. 2021; Scheffran et al. 2012). Addressing climate change is, therefore, becoming increasingly urgent as multiple, interconnected stressors intensify.

Systemic inequalities at multiple scales exacerbate climate change challenges for the most vulnerable and marginalized countries, social groups and communities (Schipper et al. 2022). Threats are largest in climate-dependent economic sectors such as agriculture, and in LMICs with limited adaptive capacity. Within countries, climate change has differential impacts on people based on the local context in which they live, their level of exposure and sensitivity to climate shocks and stressors, their resilience capacities and the enabling environment (ibid.). Even within communities, there is considerable heterogeneity in vulnerability to shocks and stressors, and in preferences and needs when choosing how to respond. Social inequalities based on unjust social norms and unequal power dynamics within households, communities and food systems influence the distribution of the negative impacts of climate change, exacerbating vulnerability for the most marginalized and limiting options and scope for climate actions (ibid.). As a result, the outcomes of climate change differ by gender and other intersectional identities, such as ethnic group, age and wealth (Bryan et al. 2017; Djoudi et al. 2016; Huyer 2016; Jost et al. 2016; Kristjanson et al. 2017; Tandale 2019).

The literature documenting gender-related inequalities in exposure and sensitivity to climate disturbances, adaptive capacity, participation in climate responses at multiple scales and welfare outcomes has grown considerably in the last decade. These inequalities are driven by gender-differentiated roles and responsibilities, differential access to resources, technologies and services (e.g., financial and information), and are underpinned by patriarchal norms. Therefore, there is a high risk that women, youth and other socially marginalized groups will face disproportionate impacts, or that inequalities will be exacerbated if efforts to address climate change are not responsive to the needs of these groups (Huyer and Partey 2020; Eastin 2018).

This review paper highlights key gender inequalities in experiences with, responses to and outcomes of climate change, and points to emerging evidence on promising approaches to reach, benefit and empower women through climate action. This presents a new thematic area that was not covered in the 2011 *State of Food and Agriculture* report, given the dearth of studies on the topic at that time (FAO 2011). For details on the search terms, criteria for inclusion and approach to the review see the <u>annex</u> in the overarching section (Lecoutere, Kosec, et al. 2023). The next section summarizes the now-extensive literature on gender inequalities related to climate change, focusing on key conceptual linkages. Section 3 describes some promising strategies to reduce gender inequality through climate action, and section 4 describes the benefits of doing so. The paper concludes with some observations on areas where more research and actions are needed.

2. Gender inequalities and climate change: defining the relationship

Recent conceptual frameworks of the linkages between gender and climate change highlight how climate change has differential impacts on men and women—some of which are the direct result of exposure and sensitivity to climate shocks and stressors, and others are indirect or filtered through the institutional environment and by actions taken to ameliorate negative impacts (Bryan et al. 2017; Kristjanson et al. 2017; Theis, Bryan, and Ringler 2019). Other frameworks focus on action areas for facilitating women's empowerment and gendertransformative change through climate-smart agriculture (CSA) (Huyer et al. 2019; Huyer and Chanana 2021; Huyer, Gumucio, et al. 2021), and inclusive climate policy (Huyer et al. 2020). Several recent studies have emphasized the need to understand the gender dimensions of food system transformation with increasing women's resilience to climate change being one key element (Njuki et al. 2022; Bryan, Ringler, and Meinzen-Dick 2022).

Drawing on these conceptual foundations, it is possible to identify several dimensions in which gender inequalities interact with climate risks and disturbances to produce gender-differentiated well-being outcomes. These elements include: (1) gender differences in exposure and sensitivity to shocks and stressors; (2) differential resilience and adaptive capacities of men and women; (3) gendered preferences for and uptake of climate change responses (broadly defined to include climate-smart practices, adaptation strategies, mitigation strategies and climate-resilient agriculture); (4) the level of gender integration in the design and implementation of policies, investments and interventions, and participation in decision-making and leadership; and (5) differential outcomes of climate change as a result of climate disturbances and the chosen responses at multiple scales (Dankelman 2010).

2.1 Gender differences in exposure, and sensitivity to climate shocks and stressors

Identifying areas where vulnerability to climate change is particularly high is important to target resources and design strategies to address the confluence of challenges for the most vulnerable (Chanana-Nag and Aggarwal 2020; Koo et al. 2022). Some studies have used mapping approaches to identify hotspots where women are particularly vulnerable to climate shocks and stressors (ibid.), while others use indices to compare the vulnerability of different populations along different dimension (Magassa et al. 2020).

Vulnerability assessments tend to find that women have higher vulnerability to climate shocks and stressors. However, narratives that describe women as particularly vulnerable to climate change perpetuate the perception of women as victims, while ignoring women's agency in addressing climate change or dimensions of men's vulnerability (Huyer, Gumucio, et al. 2021; Rao et al. 2019; Arora-Jonsson 2011). Moreover, such narratives miss important nuances about how vulnerability also varies by age, class, ethnicity and other intersectional identities (Djoudi et al. 2016).

Much of the literature focuses on vulnerability that is based on gender differences in adaptive or resilience capacities (e.g., Yadav and Lal 2018). Although this is a critical dimension of vulnerability and one where the largest gender gaps exist, it is also important to highlight how women and men are differently exposed to climate hazards and may experience the same climate shocks and stressors differently due to their gendered livelihood roles and responsibilities. In some cases, women may be more exposed to the harmful impacts of climate change because of their livelihood activities. A case study from a peri-urban area in Magdalena, Mexico, shows that women were more affected by the negative impacts of climate change and associated water scarcity because they rely on fruit and vegetable processing for their livelihoods, for food security, and to maintain social ties (Buechler 2009). In other cases, women's roles may be less vulnerable to shocks and stressors. For instance, women are more likely to raise local livestock breeds and smaller animals, which tend to be more resilient to the negative impacts of climate change (Köhler-Rollefson 2012; Chanamuto and Hall 2015).

Because gender roles vary in different contexts (e.g., rural and urban food environments) the nature of gender differences in exposure will also vary. In rural settings, where women spend considerable time collecting water for domestic use, they may have a greater work burden in regions where climate change exacerbates water scarcity (Rao et al. 2019; Nkenglaasi et al. 2017). While droughts negatively affect the farming activities on which many rural households depend, vulnerable urban households may experience more harm from flooding and associated health-related risks, like cholera, due to poor water infrastructure and crowded conditions, with disproportionate impacts on urban women (Grasham, Korzenevica, and Charles 2019).

Differential exposure is also evidenced by gendered outcomes of climate disasters. Several global reviews have found that women tend to have higher morbidity and reduced life expectancy compared to men following droughts, storms, earthquakes and fires, especially where women have lower socioeconomic status, less access to information and limited agency to make strategic life choices (Neumayer and Plümper 2007; Doocy et al. 2013; Erman et al. 2021). Yet, women are not always more exposed to climate disasters. Some case studies found that men die at higher rates following climate disasters, for example Hurricane Mitch in 1998, because they are overrepresented in high-risk occupations such as construction (Delaney and Shrader 2000; Zagheni, Muttarak, and Striessnig 2015; Erman et al. 2021).

Men's and women's differential experience with climate shocks and stressors is reflected in the different ways in which they perceive and report the impacts of these disturbances, though patterns are not easily generalizable across contexts (Oloukoi et al. 2014; Twyman et al. 2014; Kristjanson et al. 2017; Rao et al. 2019) and sometimes there are few genderdifferentiated perceptions of climate change (Assan et al. 2018; Nkengla-asi et al. 2017; Dah-gbeto and Villamor 2016; Partey et al. 2020). These experiences also have implications for how men and women respond to climate disturbances and how interventions may be designed to address gender-specific concerns.

Gender differences in food security, nutrition and health can influence men's and women's sensitivity to climate shocks and stressors. Where women and girls reduce consumption as a strategy to cope with climate shocks, this has negative implications for their physical capacity to withstand additional shocks and to engage in other coping and adaptive measures (Alston and Akhter 2016). Conversely, there is evidence that suggests women may be less sensitive in some ways to certain climate shocks. A study from Tanzania suggests that women are biologically less sensitive to heat stress than men, enabling them to maintain their labor in agriculture during heatwaves (Lee et al. 2021). Sensitivity to disturbances also varies across contexts. For instance, the negative effect of climate change on the nutritional content of staple crops such as wheat, rice, potatoes and soy are more likely to affect poor consumers in low-income countries given that these foods comprise a large share of their diets (Fanzo et al. 2018). Last—although it is not a direct impact of climate change—a common view in the development community is that climate change exacerbates other shocks such as conflict and the incidence of violence against women. One recent cross-country comparative study found mixed evidence on the impacts of climate shocks such as drought on intimate-partner violence (Cooper et al. 2021). However, other reviews suggest that climate change and disasters trigger multiple forms of violence against women and girls and that, in many cases, existing data underrepresent the extent of the problem, given that violence survivors are unlikely to report abuse or seek help when supporting services are inadequate (Masson 2022).

2.2 Gender inequality in adaptive capacities

The body of literature on gendered adaptive or resilience capacities to respond to climate change has grown considerably over the past decade. This literature conforms with the wider body of literature on the factors shaping structural gender inequalities in agri-food systems, including differences in access to resources and technologies, access to information and financial services, and social norms (as described in companion working papers by Kosec et al. 2023 and Lecoutere, Achandi, et al. 2023). It further highlights how these factors limit the range of response options available to women, thereby reducing their ability to respond effectively to climate change. Therefore, building women's adaptive capacities is a key entry point for reducing their vulnerability and increasing their contribution to climate action.

2.2.1 Gender differences in access to and control over resources

Women tend to have more limited access to the resources and productive assets needed to respond to climate change, including natural resources, such land and water, productive inputs, and technologies, assets and human capital. In particular, lack of access to and control over land prevents women from investing in longer-term climate-resilient agriculture practices (Jost et al. 2016; Perez et al. 2015) including soil and water conservation (Meinzen-Dick et al. 2019), agroforestry (Quisumbing and Kumar 2014) and small-scale irrigation (Theis et al. 2018; Bryan and Garner 2022).

Access to and control over other assets are also an important source of resilience because they act as a store of value that can be drawn upon to cope with climate (and other types of) shocks (Theis, Bryan, and Ringler 2019; Goh 2012). Yet women tend to own, and have control over, fewer high-value or productive assets, like livestock (Djoudi and Brockhaus 2011; Tavenner and Crane 2018). While gendered asset dynamics following climate shocks are not always straightforward and depend on the type of shock and local gender roles (Rakib and Matz 2016; Quisumbing, Kumar, and Behrman 2018), in some cases, women's assets, such as jewelry, may be drawn down in response to shocks if the asset is less important for generating household income, the owner has weaker bargaining power within the household or the asset is easier to sell (Quisumbing, Kumar, and Behrman 2018). Depletion of productive assets following climate shocks can be particularly detrimental to poor households that rely on these kinds of assets to maintain their livelihoods. However, sales of women's assets following shocks, while they may not be productive assets, further increase gender inequality in men's and women's resilience capacities over the longer term.

Women also lack access to productive inputs and technologies needed to adapt to climate change (and reduce gender gaps in agricultural productivity), which are covered in the companion working paper by Puskur et al. (2023). Laborsaving tools and inputs such as fertilizer are particularly important to increase the productivity and efficiency of plots managed by women and reduce women's labor burden, which is increasing with climate change (Jost et al. 2016; Murray et al. 2016; Perez et al. 2015). Reducing the gender gap in fertilizer use also has potential to contribute to reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from agriculture (Farnworth et al. 2017). However, often when technologies and inputs are adopted at the household level, and even when they are distributed to women directly, these tend to be controlled by men (Haapala 2019; Bryan and Garner 2022; Theis et al. 2018). Thus, women's use of climate-smart technologies, such as irrigation or conservation agriculture, do not always confer direct benefits to women, especially when underlying unequal power dynamics are not addressed (Tsige 2019).

2.2.2 Gender differences in human and social capital

Gender differences in human and social capital also contribute to gender differences in adaptive capacities. Social networks and groups are especially important to access information, resources and economic opportunities needed to respond to climate change and they provide an important platform for women's capacity development and agency (Huyer, Gumucio, et al. 2021; Kumar et al. 2021; Falco and Bulte 2013). Women also have more limited voice and leadership opportunities in rural organizations: a case study from Kenya shows that men and women participate in different types of groups and that men tend to have a wider social network, leading to greater participation in community decisionmaking and in influencing adaptive behavior (Ngigi, Mueller, and Birner 2017).

Human capital is an important adaptive capacity: people with better education, knowledge and skills have more options to access services, adopt new technologies and diversify their livelihoods (Muttarak and Lutz 2014). However, the gender gap in educational attainment persists (Evans, Akmal, and Jakiela 2020), and there is growing evidence that climate change negatively affects girls' education more than boys', and that promoting girls' reproductive rights, education and life skills would lead to greater climate resilience (Sims 2021; Chigwanda 2016; Muttarak and Lutz 2014). Countries where girls have higher levels of schooling also have lower climate change vulnerability scores (Kwauk and Braga 2017).

2.2.3 Access to services

Access to services, especially climate information, extension and financial services, are essential for climate change adaptation. Research shows that climate information services are less likely to reach women (Bernier et al. 2015; Bryan, Kato, and Bernier 2021; Carr and Onzere 2018; Diouf et al. 2020; Gumucio et al. 2020b; Jost et al. 2016; Partey et al. 2020; Tall et al. 2014) and there is a long literature documenting gender differences in access to different sources and types of information; see the *Making Complementary Agricultural Resources, Technologies and Services More Gender Responsive* (Kosec et al. 2023) in this series of working papers. Moreover, women have different preferences for the services they receive—including different preferences for weather index insurance products (Akter et al. 2016) and climate information services (Henriksson et al. 2021; Twyman et al. 2014; Tall et al. 2014; Gumucio et al. 2020b). When services are not designed to take women's needs and preferences into consideration, they are less likely to increase women's knowledge or adoption of climate-smart practices such as agroforestry (Duffy et al. 2021).

Recent research explores the potential to reduce information asymmetry with digital devices and services. For example, a case study from India shows that climate and agricultural information provided via mobile phones reduced information gaps between men and women farmers and increased women's knowledge of climate-smart technologies (Mittal 2016). However, a large gender digital divide remains. For example, there is a gender gap in mobile phone ownership, estimated at 13 percent in sub-Saharan Africa (Rowntree et al. 2019), which can limit women's access to climate and weather information disseminated through ICT (Gumucio et al. 2020b). A case study from Ghana shows that women have less access to climate information via mobile phones compared to men, and that even when women do receive climate information, other resource constraints still limit their ability to apply climate information to farming practices (Partey et al. 2020).

Given both demand and supply constraints, women are less likely to be reached by and benefit from financial services (Adegbite and Machethe 2020; Jemimah Njuki et al. 2019; Timu and Kramer 2021) and this contributes to even greater income and wealth inequality (Fouejieu et al. 2020). There is also growing interest in the potential for agricultural insurance to provide financial protection to poor rural households who are particularly vulnerable to climate shocks (Janzen, Carter, and Ikegami 2021). Having insurance may enable them to make investments that increase agricultural productivity and incomes (Karlan et al. 2014; Jensen and Barrett 2017; Farrin and Miranda 2015). However, a review by Timu and Kramer (2021) finds strong evidence of gender gaps in access to, demand for and usage of agricultural insurance.

2.2.4 Patriarchal norms underpin gender inequalities in adaptive capacities

Patriarchal norms underpin all the above barriers to women's ability to respond to climate change. For example, a case study from Cameroon highlights how patriarchal norms limit women's access to land, because insecure tenure arrangements prevent them from adopting practices to respond to climate change or investing in plots (Nchu, Kimengsi, and Kapp 2019). Sociocultural barriers also limit women's ability to adopt certain technologies such as agroforestry (Kiptot and Franzel 2012) and treadle pumps (Njuki et al. 2014), and limit women's mobility, income-earning opportunities and ability to participate in groups (Djoudi and Brockhaus 2011; Jost et al. 2016; Rao et al. 2019). Perceptions of appropriate gender roles in some contexts, for example in Cambodia, where women's role in farming is overlooked and undervalued, can often exclude women from decision-making spaces and spheres within the rural farming households. This includes excluding them from the adoption of climate-smart practices such as conservation agriculture (Sumner, Christie, and Boulakia 2017).

2.3 Gender differences in climate change response preferences and choices

Harmful social norms and resulting gender inequalities in access to resources and services also limit women's bargaining power and agency at multiple scales and in different domains, including in agricultural production decisions, livelihood choices, income-earning opportunities, and in market transactions (e.g., trade). For more on this, see the working paper by Quisumbing et al. (2023). Unequal power dynamics limit women's ability to negotiate for their preferred responses to climate disturbances within households, communities, groups and organizations, and in policy spheres (Steinfield and Holt 2020), despite having different needs, preferences and priorities for how to respond to the negative impacts of climate change (Bryan et al. 2017; Ngigi, Mueller, and Birner 2017; Kristjanson et al. 2017).

The process of negotiation can lead to a set of observed response choices that can be characterized in different ways. First, given generally lower resilience capacities, women often have fewer options to respond to climate disturbances and are more likely to adopt short-term coping measures than medium- to longer-term adaptive strategies, which further exacerbates their vulnerability to future shocks (Ahmad, Afzal, and Rauf 2021; Anugwa et al. 2020; Jost et al. 2016; Mersha and Van Laerhoven 2016; Bastakoti and Doneys 2020). For example, a comparative analysis of women's agency and adaptive capacity across Asia and Africa found that women often resort to coping strategies that reduce their well-being and future resilience (Rao et al. 2019). A study of adoption patterns of climate-smart pushpull technology in East Africa further demonstrates that, even when women show interest and willingness to adopt new technologies, they still face considerable resource constraints that limit their use of these technologies (Murage et al. 2015). Women also are less able to participate in mitigation activities. Early evidence from agricultural carbon-market projects suggests that women are less likely to participate in sustainable land management activities that lead to soil-carbon sequestration, have little input in the design of such activities, and, when involved, they see a large increase in their labor burden (Lee et al. 2015).

Second, intersectional identities also influence response choices. For example, a study from three climate-smart villages in Latin America, where multiple climate-smart interventions were implemented, found that gendered patterns of adoption and the use of climate forecast information also depend on women's level of education and age (Acosta et al. 2021). In another example, widows and divorced women in Tanzania face greater agricultural production constraints and are more likely to seek off-farm opportunities for earning income (Van Aelst and Holvoet 2016). A study from Uganda found that, in addition to gender; age, wealth and marital status influenced the adoption of drought-tolerant maize (Fisher and Carr 2015). In South Asia, socioeconomic status also influences migration decisions following adverse climate events: resource-rich households choose to migrate as an adaptive response

while resource-poor households tend to migrate to cope with climate shocks. Women and children of all income levels are less able to migrate at all (Bhatta et al. 2015).

Third, when women are involved in decisions about climate change adaptation, evidence suggests that they tend to make different choices. For example, evidence from Tanzania shows that women's agency in intrahousehold bargaining is associated with greater engagement in nonfarm income-earning activities, and different crop choices on the farm (Van Aelst and Holvoet 2016; 2020). Case study evidence suggests that these choices are often reflective of gendered livelihood roles and responsibilities (Bernier et al. 2015; Bryan, Kato, and Bernier 2021; Ngigi, Mueller, and Birner 2017; Twyman et al. 2014). In Bangladesh, women were found to be more likely than men to adopt practices that relate to their existing livelihood roles such as improved livestock feeding and grain storage practices, when they are aware of these practices (Bryan, Kato, and Bernier 2021). Women also tend to prefer practices that reduce their workloads (Arora et al. 2017; Farnworth et al. 2017; Murray et al. 2016; Mutenje et al. 2019; Khatri-Chhetri et al. 2017), although women sometimes adopt low-risk, labor-intensive practices due to the high cost of some laborsaving technologies (Mutenje et al. 2019).

2.4 Lack of gender integration in policies, investments and interventions

Another important gender gap relates the lack of gender-responsive policies, investments and interventions, and the lack of women's leadership in policy spheres. A growing literature provides strong evidence that climate policies and programs at multiple scales do not adequately integrate gender (and intersectional social identities) or budget for stated outcomes (Acosta et al. 2019; 2020; Ampaire et al. 2016; Ampaire et al. 2020; Huyer et al. 2020; Mersha and van Laerhoven 2019). In comparison to other environment-related processes, the integration of gender equality into climate policy has been slow at both global and national levels (Huyer et al. 2020). When gender is mentioned in policy, women tend to be framed as victims of climate change rather than as agents of change (Huyer and Partey 2020; Garcia, Tschakert, and Karikari 2020). A policy analysis of the extent to which gender is integrated into agricultural and climate change policies in Nepal found that, although gender is acknowledged in most policies, the scope for intervention is mostly restricted to increasing reach and participation of women farmers in policy implementation, and there is less focus on benefits for women (Paudyal et al. 2019).

Governments, parliamentarians, policymakers and implementing agencies often lack the capacity to integrate gender in climate adaptation efforts (Ampaire et al. 2020; Bryan et al. 2018; Ragasa et al. 2013) and to understand the interests of different stakeholders based on intersectional identities such as ethnicity, class and caste (Resurreccion et al. 2019). This is also the case with climate mitigation interventions, as even less attention is paid to the gender equity implications (Lee et al. 2015). Integrating gender into climate change policies also must consider how local gender norms limit women's ability to participate in and benefit from the implementation of climate interventions, and take steps to enhance the transformative potential of policy action (Acosta et al. 2019). This is not always easy as demonstrated by a case study from Uganda, which showed that although local policymakers often adhere to global discourses about gender inequality, there is limited interest in adopting local solutions that actually challenge the underlying social norms that drive gender inequalities (Acosta et al. 2021). Ampaire et al. (2020) also found that implementation and monitoring instruments were missing from policy in East Africa and that policies tended not to address structural inequalities.

There is also considerable gender inequality in climate investments (Faucherre 2016; Schalatek 2022). First, the amount of official development assistance dedicated to gender and climate change (adaptation and/or mitigation) is inadequate, being only 8.6 percent of all official development assistance (Schalatek 2021). Second, global financing mechanisms that fund adaptation and mitigation policies and programs, particularly the private sector

mechanisms such as carbon and biodiversity offsets, often pay less attention to gender and equity concerns (ibid). These highlight the need for greater scrutiny of how financial mechanisms are deployed and what their distributional impacts are (Glemarec, Qayum and Olshanskaya 2016). For example, a review as well as several case studies from the literature on gender and REDD+ (Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation plus conservation, sustainable management of forests and enhancement of forest carbon stocks) found the subordination of women (particularly indigenous women) in decisionmaking in the forestry sector and, hence, in national REDD+ regimes (Pham et al. 2016), as well as marginalization in the design and implementation of REDD+ policies (Arwida et al. 2017), hindering effective forest protection, fair resource allocation, gender equality and social justice (Löw 2020). The effectiveness of expanding access to climate finance to reduce gender inequalities depends also on building capacities and institutions to challenge social structural constraints that limit women's ability to engage in CSA, forest sequestration and disaster management (Wong 2016).

2.5 Gender inequality in outcomes of climate change responses

Climate change and the choice of climate-smart practices, technologies or adaptation strategies have important implications for women's empowerment and gender equality outcomes through changes in labor allocation, control over income and assets, and livelihood choices, among other pathways (Bryan et al. 2017). Every response option carries some degree of trade-off among people and across outcomes and spatial and temporal scales (ibid.). Thus, interventions aimed at increasing resilience to climate change are not gender neutral. Most climate interventions have been implemented without an explicit focus on women's empowerment or the use of gender-transformative approaches (GTAs). Given this shortcoming, such interventions may not address—and may, in fact, perpetuate—structural inequalities that limit women's contribution to addressing the harmful impacts of climate change (Huyer and Partey 2020).

In particular, short-term coping strategies, such as drawing down assets, keeping girls home from school or reducing consumption have short- and long-term negative welfare implications for all family members but may be especially detrimental to women and girls. For example, although women are generally in charge of food preparation and cooking, in some cases they eat last (Hathi et al. 2021) and may be more likely to reduce how much they eat in response to shocks (Algur, Patel, and Chauhan 2021). Reducing consumption in the short-term can have long-term, even intergenerational, implications. For example short maternal stature, a consequence of poor nutrition in childhood, is associated with low birth weight and child stunting, which in turn has implications for adolescent nutritional status, thus perpetuating the cycle of undernutrition (Martorell and Zongrone 2012).

Climate shocks can also shift household expenditure away from investments in girls, toward immediate household needs, causing deficits in girls' long-term health and human capital outcomes (Feeny et al. 2021; Staffieri, Sitko, and Maluccio 2022). Evidence from several contexts suggests that older girls are especially likely to be pulled from school following climate shocks, when the demand for family labor increases (Staffieri, Sitko, and Maluccio 2022; Agamile and Lawson 2021; Björkman-Nyqvist 2013). A study in Vietnam showed long-term effects of rainfall shocks on gender gaps in employment and suggested that these operate through differential effects on education attainment (Feeny et al. 2021).

The outcomes of response choices are often nuanced, as demonstrated by several case studies on the gendered impacts of climate-induced migration. In some contexts, male outmigration increases women's decision-making authority at home (Rajkarnikar 2020; Simelton, Duong, and Houzer 2021). In other cases, women left behind due to men's outmigration face additional hardship, including increased work burden (Lei and Desai 2021), loss of identity, marital separation, increased health burden (Sznajder et al. 2022) and mortality risk (Agadjanian, Hayford, and Jansen 2021). Often, women migrants face sexual

exploitation and human trafficking (ElDidi et al. 2022), in addition to social costs and stigma (Evertsen and van der Geest 2020). Some evidence suggests that climate shocks in conflictprone areas exacerbate negative impacts on women: Chandra et al. (2017) found that extreme climate events in conflict-prone agrarian communities in the Philippines subject women to numerous adverse outcomes including forced migration, increased discrimination, loss of customary rights to land, resource poverty and food insecurity.

There are also often trade-offs and nuances in welfare outcomes following the adoption of new climate-smart practices or technologies. For example, in the case of conservation agriculture (CA), a systematic review in sub-Saharan Africa showed that CA is associated with women's greater participation in agricultural decisions, increased income and better household food security. However, it is also associated with increased workloads and health risks (Wekesah, Mutua, and Izugbara 2019). Other studies have similarly documented the negative implications of CA for women's time burden (Beuchelt and Badstue 2013; Farnworth et al. 2016), which has resulted in many women abandoning the practice (Hove and Gweme 2018).

Another review found that women's participation in sustainable livelihood interventions leads to increased income, better food security and improvement in short-term environmental outcomes (Call and Sellers 2019). However, these benefits may come at a cost to women these initiatives were found to increase women's labor burden without corresponding gains in women's income (Beuchelt and Badstue 2013; Call and Sellers 2019). Similarly, in Ethiopia, adoption of multiple climate-smart practices was associated with higher dietary diversity and greater calorie and micronutrient intake (Teklewold, Gebrehiwot, and Bezabih 2019). In this case, female-headed households received the largest boost in food and nutrition security following the adoption of climate-smart practices compared to male-headed households, suggesting that facilitating women's adoption of CSA would also improve nutritional outcomes for this subset of women (ibid.).

Some climate-smart technologies have the potential to reduce women's labor burden, while also contributing to higher productivity, incomes and, in some cases, positive environmental outcomes (Khatri-Chhetri et al. 2017). For example, the rice drum seeder was found to reduce women's time burden while mitigating GHG in India (Gartaula et al. 2020; Joshi, Khan, and Kishore 2019), although in other cases it was found to reduce employment for women (Paris and Chi 2005). However, the introduction of laborsaving technologies, like pumps for small-scale irrigation, may not reduce women's overall work burden but may rather enable them to allocate time to more-preferred livelihood activities (Bryan and Garner 2022).

A growing number of studies examine how labor patterns shift following climate shocks and the adoption of specific farming practices in response to climate change. Recent evidence suggests that households reallocate labor in response to climate shocks and stressors in ways that have different impacts on women and men. A study on the impacts of climate extreme events (e.g., heatwaves and droughts) on labor force participation in agriculture, drawing on individual-level labor data from 30 countries in Africa, found that while heatwaves and droughts reduce individual effort intensity in agriculture considerably, the work intensity of women farmers was much less affected by heatwave shocks than that of men farmers (Nico and Azzarri 2022). A case study from Tanzania supports these overall findings: heat stress was shown to reduce total male family labor in agricultural production, while female family labor remained unchanged, or even increased in the case of female-headed households (Lee et al. 2021). These results highlight the importance of women farmers' contributions to agricultural production under a changing climate; however, they also raise concerns regarding the working conditions of women under a more hazardous production environment.

Some have argued that CSA interventions in practice focus largely on technical solutions, are driven by entrenched global interests and emphasize market-oriented approaches that address the productivity and profitability objectives (Clay and Zimmerer 2020; Collins 2018; Haapala 2019; Karlsson et al. 2018). Shifting smallholder production toward a more commercial orientation has considerable equity implications (Karlsson et al. 2018). The literature suggests that women and other disadvantaged groups often face constraints to participating in value chains, markets and business activities (Farnworth 2011; Fischer and

Qaim 2012; Waithanji, Njuki, and Nabintu 2013; Dalaa et al. 2021) and that these constraints vary for different groups of women (Andersson Djurfeldt 2018) and depend on the value chain in question (Rubin, Boonabaana, and Manfre 2019). Thus, while commercial-oriented CSA may provide benefits in terms of productivity and profitability, it may come at the expense of a loss of women's agency—including their control over income, assets and decision-making authority (Tavenner et al. 2019).

3. Reducing gender inequality through climate action: what strategies are effective?

Although much of the research on gender and climate change has focused on identifying differences in the ways in which men and women perceive climate shocks and changes, differential capacity needs and response-choice preferences, recent research has focused on applying this understanding to the development of gender-smart climate investments and interventions that reach, benefit and empower women for climate action and that transform the structures and barriers that drive gender inequality (Huyer and Chanana 2021). A set of promising approaches to gender-inclusive climate action at multiple scales is beginning to emerge. It centers around policies, investments and programs aimed at increasing women's access to productive resources (including laborsaving technologies), providing inclusive climate finance, expanding access to climate information services and promoting groupbased approaches (Huyer et al. 2021). The extent to which any climate-smart interventions can reach, benefit and empower women depends on the design and implementation approach (Johnson et al. 2018). Most efforts concentrate on increasing women's access to and control over resources needed for responding to climate change, while less effort has been made to address structural inequalities and institutional barriers through GTAs at multiple scales. There is, however, growing acknowledgment that climate interventions should be accompanied by specific activities aimed at facilitating women's empowerment and gender-transformative change (Huyer and Partey 2020). In general, more research is needed to understand what climate interventions have proven effective at reducing gender inequalities, as well as what have not.

3.1 Gender- and environment-sensitive social protection

Several studies have demonstrated that social protection programs provide a buffer against climate shocks by facilitating adaptation, speeding recovery from shocks and improving welfare outcomes in risk-prone contexts (Premand and Stoeffler 2020; Knippenberg and Hoddinott 2017; Macours, Premand, and Vakis 2012; Tenzing 2020). There is also evidence that social protection must go beyond targeting women in their capacity as mothers in order to promote women's empowerment and gender equality (Molyneux and Thomson 2011; Holmes and Jones 2013; Jones et al. 2017). However, few "shock-sensitive" social protection programs are gender responsive, and there is little research at the intersection of social protection, gender and climate change to shed light on the extent to which gender-responsive approaches reduce gender inequality in climate change impacts (Holmes 2019). Despite the dearth of literature on gender-responsive, shock-sensitive social protection, this is viewed as a promising area deserving of further study (Tschakert and Machado 2012)

and some case studies are emerging. For instance, a school feeding program in Malawi was shown to increase school enrolment for older girls, who are more likely to be withdrawn from school following climate shocks (Staffieri, Sitko, and Maluccio 2022).

Going beyond just increasing resilience to shocks, social protection programs are also being linked with payment for ecosystem services (PES) schemes to support broader environmental conservation and natural climate solutions through the protection, management and restoration of ecosystems. Evidence suggests that such programs are synergistic, contributing to sustainable development and climate change adaptation and mitigation (Griscom et al. 2020). PES schemes that include gender and social equality objectives have the potential to contribute to both gender equality and climate resilience, particularly where these schemes are used to diversify rural incomes or foster a shift to more regenerative and sustainable practices in food systems (Schwarzer, Van Panhuys, and Diekmann 2016). Some social protection programs—for example, Bolsa Verde, a cash transfer program with environment conditions in Brazil—are beginning to integrate gender and social equality and environmental objectives with promising outcomes in both areas (de Brauw et al. 2014; Schwarzer, Van Panhuys, and Diekmann 2016). Gender- and climateresponsive social protection programs will require greater use of sex-disaggregated data to assess poverty and vulnerability to shocks and stressors in the design and implementation of these programs (Holmes 2019). Key design features include proper targeting to women, identification of appropriate communication channels, selection of gender-appropriate work opportunities, and overcoming gender-specific constraints through, for example, activities to increase women's financial inclusion (Holmes 2019).

3.2 Collective climate action through groupbased approaches

There is strong evidence that group-based, collective approaches support women's climate actions by increasing their access to information, shared resources, finance and collective agency (Cabot Venton, Prillaman, and Kim 2021; Huyer et al. 2021). For example, two studies from India found that using women's groups and networks as communication delivery channels for climate change and weather information can increase women's access to these critical services (Rengalakshmi, Manjula, and Devaraj 2018), leading to increased knowledge of climate-resilient practices (Dey, Singh, and Gupta 2018). A case study in Vietnam found that women's groups enabled women to gain access to information leading to adoption of alternative wetting and drying practices in rice production, a GHG mitigation strategy (Farnworth et al. 2017). Groups such as village savings and loan associations have proved to be promising options for increased productivity and income in Southeast Asia (Huyer et al. 2021; Simelton et al. 2021). The use of groups in Kenya were shown to enhance women's adaptive capacity through training and the provision of microcredit (Caretta 2014). Another study from Kenya also found groups to be an important determinant of adopting CSA practices—although the ways in which women and men participate in groups, and the types of groups they join differ, suggesting that gender-sensitive strategies are needed to utilize groups as a way to promote uptake of CSA practices (Ngigi, Mueller, and Birner 2017).

Beyond increasing access to information and resources leading to the adoption of climatesmart practices, groups also provide a vehicle to increase women's agency. Women members of self-help groups in India were more politically engaged, more aware of public entitlements, and more likely to benefit from public entitlement schemes than nonmembers (Kumar et al. 2021). In Senegal, a women's committee participated in local environmental management while also developing an income stream from baobab fruit powder (Huyer et al. 2021). A women's group in Nepal increased their status in the community, reduced workloads and increased production through the management of solar irrigation pumps (ibid.). These examples indicate that group membership and collective action can engender capacity building tailored to women's needs and constraints.

3.3 Gender-sensitive design and dissemination of climate information services

There is considerable evidence that well-designed climate information services that reach women increase adoption of CSA in ways that benefit women and their communities. For example, women's access to climate information was found to be a key determinant of awareness and adoption of climate-smart practices in Kenya (Bernier et al. 2015) and Bangladesh (Bryan, Kato, and Bernier 2021), reducing gender gaps in the adoption of key practices. Furthermore, a study using panel data from the Living Standards and Measurement Study in four countries in sub-Saharan Africa found that, when extension and information services reach women farmers, agricultural performance improves and the negative impacts of weather variability and climate shocks on agricultural income are reduced (Azzarri and Nico 2022). An evaluation of climate information service interventions in Rwanda suggests that interventions targeted to women fill a critical information gap leading to improved agricultural management decisions that increase resilience to climate change: women participants were found to apply the climate knowledge received through these interventions to their agricultural decisions, while there were no differences in decision-making behavior of men in the intervention and control groups (Gumucio et al. 2020a).

Well-designed and targeted gender training was also shown to increase women's adoption of resilient seeds in India (Dar et al. 2020). Addressing the gendered information gap in knowledge of climate-smart practices was also shown to increase adoption of climate-smart practices in India, leading to further benefits in terms of reduced male outmigration and better food and nutrition security (Agarwal et al. 2022). A recent study in India and Nepal found that women were more reliant on social networks and groups as sources of agricultural information, suggesting the need to expand women's access to formal extension while also leveraging social networks and farmer peers to improve information access (Alvi et al. 2021). Ways forward point to the inclusion of women's groups and networks in communication channels and the development of ICT and content that respond to women's preferences (Gumucio et al. 2020b).

There is some limited evidence that reducing information gaps may also increase women's agency. For example, a study from India found that women with access to agricultural information were more involved in decision-making around agricultural production (Mittal 2016). Another study found that mobile phone usage among women in Uganda was associated with women's empowerment as well as increased income, food security and better diets (Sekabira and Qaim 2017). More research is needed on the benefits of closing the gender information and digital divide and the potential for such interventions to contribute to women's empowerment and gender equality.

3.4 Design and dissemination of inclusive financial products

Financial inclusion supports women's climate action by enhancing women's productive capacity within agriculture and small-businesses along agricultural value chains (Fletschner and Kenney 2014; Njuki et al. 2019), potentially lead to improving women's intrahousehold bargaining power leading to more equitable and efficient allocation of resources (Fletschner and Kenney 2014). However, financial services, like insurance products, must be designed in a gender-sensitive way to reach, benefit, and empower women. Evidence suggests that financial products such as crop insurance programs can be successfully tailored to support gender equality, provide welfare benefits to both men and women, and increase opportunities for women's empowerment (Timu and Kramer 2021). In particular, bundled weather index insurance products seem particularly effective at reaching women and other marginalized farmers (Timu and Kramer 2021; Aheeyar, Samarakoon, and de Silva 2021). In the case of South Africa, the lack of access women have to land, resources, and extension services may affect their interest in this form of insurance (Born, Spillane, and Murray 2019). Thus, efforts to reach and benefit women with index insurance products should also include

disseminating information and technology, building trust in financial institutions, and linking to existing institutions.

3.5 Gender-responsive climate policies and investments at multiple scales

Policies, interventions, investments, infrastructure and institutions all play a role in creating an enabling environment for resilience and reducing gender inequalities in the food system. A number of instruments are used to structure national planning and commitments relating to climate adaptation and mitigation, including national adaptation plans, (NAPs), nationally appropriate mitigation actions (NAMA), REDD+ and nationally determined contributions (NDCs). There is significantly poor integration of gender dimensions into these mechanisms. Global climate financing mechanisms only recently began to integrate a gender lens, and then only the more prominent public multilateral mechanisms seem to have consistent frameworks, approaches and safeguards to ensure that gender and equity considerations are incorporated into their design, operation and evaluation (Schalatek 2021).

However, some progress is evident. While climate financing mechanisms such as the Global Environment Facility (GEF), the Adaptation Fund, and the Climate Investment Funds started out as largely gender-blind, there has been substantial effort to retroactively incorporate gender considerations into funding programs and structures (Schalatek 2022). At the national level, a review of NDCs found a significant increase in the content and number of references to gender since 2019: 68 percent of 193 NDCs submitted before September 30, 2021 made a reference to gender (Huyer 2022). To be effective, NDCs, NAPs and sectoral policies should include specific and concrete actions in climate-related sectors that target gender equality, articulate gender-specific target outcomes and develop gender-responsive monitoring and indicators specific to the agricultural sectors or natural resources. Gender budgeting and other strategies are needed to ensure the integration of women and youth into climate action, and consultative multistakeholder approaches need to be central to climate policy processes.

Improving the representation of women's voices and women's leadership, as well as the collaboration of women's ministries with other climate-related ministries in policy processes, can support the design of policies and programs that support women's meaningful engagement in climate action (UNDP 2016). Moreover, truly gender-responsive global climate funds would have to go beyond retrofitting gender to fundamentally alter the focus of funding operations to be more inclusive, including by prioritizing climate investments that disproportionally benefit women, bringing in more gender experts and leaders from women's organizations to the design of interventions, and monitoring and evaluating gender equality results (Schalatek 2022).

3.6 Large integrated programs

While the literature is still scant, there is emerging evidence that large integrated, communitybased and participatory programs that integrate gender have the potential to improve outcomes for women beyond reaching and benefiting them. For example, a communitybased adaptation program by CARE International that aimed to achieve social inclusion through focusing on building agency, changing relations and transforming structures, found positive shifts in women's empowerment (i.e., in terms of self-esteem and confidence to participate) and some initial signs of transformative social change, including shifting community attitudes regarding women's role in adaptation (Clarke et al. 2019).

Similarly, the multisectoral, climate-smart village approach, which uses participatory methods to test and apply a set of technological and institutional climate-smart practices in local contexts, was shown to increase gender equality across two dimensions, namely increasing women's access to and control over resources and women's collective action. In some regions, gender parity in the household increased as a result of participation in climate-smart villages, but impacts on women's workloads are less clear (Beal et al. 2021; Hariharan et al. 2020; Tesfaye et

al. 2022). Thus, reaching, benefiting and empowering women (and other marginalized groups such as youth) through large, integrative programs requires careful planning and project design before scaling context-appropriate climate solutions (Huyer et al. 2021).

3.7 Integrating activities aimed at women's empowerment and gender equality

More recent studies have emphasized the importance of going beyond climate interventions that reach and benefit women to ones that facilitate women's empowerment and address the root causes of gender inequality through GTAs. Gender-responsive, CSA has the potential to contribute to increasing women's agency (i.e., decision-making, reduced work burden, control over resources and income, and collective action) (Huyer et al. 2021), but more research is needed on different approaches in different socioeconomic, cultural, geographic and environmental contexts.

There is growing recognition that even efforts to increase women's agency are not enough to reduce gender inequalities in climate change outcomes and actions, and that GTAs are required to remove structural barriers by raising critical consciousness, shifting toxic cultural beliefs and attitudes, altering gendered power relations, and engaging men and boys as partners for gender equality (FAO, IFAD, and WFP 2020; Badstue et al. 2020). Specifically, GTAs may promote the agency of individuals and collective groups, increase access and promote rights to resources, address imbalances in care and productive work, redress practices that constrain women's autonomy, voice and bodies (Resurreccion et al. 2019), and increase knowledge and skills (Badstue et al. 2020; IFAD 2018).

Gender-transformative change goes beyond the individual, household levels to involve changes in norms, institutions and governing structures in the community and in broader society (Moser 2017). There is limited experience in applying GTAs in climate interventions and limited interest and action among local policymakers in tackling normative constraints (Acosta et al. 2021; Ampaire et al. 2020). However, some efforts are being made to tackle harmful norms, attitudes and behaviors through facilitated household and community dialogues as part of climate change interventions, including the International Fund for Agricultural Development's (IFAD) use of the Gender Action Learning System (GALS) in their climate change programming and FAO's community discussion clubs. Further efforts to increase the voice and influence of feminist movements in local development discourses may accelerate critical conscious raising and normative change (ibid.). More testing and evaluation of the effectiveness of GTAs in addressing the root causes of gender inequality in climate change responses is needed.

4. Projected benefits of closing gender gaps in climate action

As agriculture and food systems have a major impact on GHG emissions, climate adaptation and mitigation efforts are critical for creating just and sustainable food systems. Gender inequalities that limit women's contribution to addressing climate change can, therefore, hinder efforts to build sustainable food systems. The relationship between women's empowerment and climate resilience goes both ways: there is emerging evidence that ensuring greater gender equity in climate action not only benefits women, but also facilitates scaling of climate responses (including adaptation, mitigation, CSA and resilience-building measures) and that women's empowerment may also contribute to reduce the negative effects of climate change on outcomes such as hunger and food security. One study from Kenya found that a set of interventions aimed at increasing women's empowerment, including civic education leadership training and the establishment of community development councils, increased women's decision-making authority and household adoption of drought-preparedness measures (Grillos 2018). A comparative study in Bangladesh, Ghana and Zambia shows that, in certain contexts, empowering women can mitigate the effects of precipitation extremes, and that there may be an interactive effect between ecosystem service availability and women's empowerment (Cooper 2018).

Women have important contributions to make agriculture more climate smart and resilient given their livelihood roles and responsibilities (Huyer et al. 2021). For example, women often manage certain livelihood activities, such as rearing local or smaller livestock breeds or species that are more resilient to the negative impacts of climate change, and will, thus, be fundamental to maintaining food and nutrition security (Kristjanson et al. 2014; Chanamuto and Hall 2015). Evidence shows that women can leverage their social networks for greater climate resilience (Tadesse et al. 2017; Violon, Thomas, and Garine 2016). Women farmers across contexts may also be more reliant on farmer-to-farmer networks than men, due to their relative isolation from formal seed and information sources (Otieno et al. 2021; Marimo et al. 2021). A study in Tanzania highlights how women's social networks increase their ability to negotiate for access to resources and formal institutions, allowing them to circumvent exclusionary social norms and adopt climate-smart strategies such as improved seeds and irrigation (Smucker and Wangui 2016).

Women's climate response choices also reflect their specialized knowledge, such as regarding diverse seed varieties and storage practices (Otieno et al. 2018). In the Himalayas, women lead crop and seed management decisions and tasks, and in times of crisis maintain informal institutional arrangements for agrobiodiversity conservation such as seed exchanges, an important risk-reducing measure that contributes to high levels of agrobiodiversity (Ravera et al. 2019). Following climate shocks that lead to male outmigration, women also demonstrate ingenuity through the adoption of new climate-smart agricultural practices and livelihood innovations, as demonstrated by case studies of rice farmers in Vietnam (Nhat Lam Duyen et al. 2021) and women in coastal areas of Bangladesh (Khalil et al. 2020). Some case study evidence suggests that women may be more likely to adopt crop and livelihood diversification strategies, which are important for reducing climate risks, and, in the case of crop diversification, improving household diets (De Pinto et al. 2020; Gumucio, Twyman, and Clavijo 2017; Mersha and Van Laerhoven 2016).

Thus, there are important potential synergies between empowering women/reducing gender inequalities and increasing food system resilience to climate change. This provides further motivation for policies and interventions to be designed in ways that maximize the contributions of men and women to address climate challenges. However, more evidence is needed to strengthen the case that increasing women's agency and removing barriers to their participation in climate-smart food systems strengthens climate resilience for all, and to identify the pathways through which this plays out.

This review found very strong evidence of gender inequalities in climate change vulnerabilities, climate actions at multiple scales, and the impacts of climate change. There is also strong evidence that climate change interventions have differential impacts on men and women, and that these outcomes vary across contexts and by other social characteristics. The literature also demonstrates that the lack of gender responsiveness of interventions can exacerbate gender inequalities (Eriksen et al. 2021). Although some promising approaches emerged from this review, the evidence on effective approaches to reducing gender inequality through climate action remains limited (see also Call and Sellers 2019).

In general, this review found little evidence of gendered outcomes in climate change interventions. The literature that does exist is patchy, for example focused only on a small set of climate-resilient practices and approaches (e.g., conservation agriculture) or contexts. Thus, there is a need for more research on the effectiveness of the promising approaches identified here to go beyond reaching and benefiting women to contributing to women's empowerment and reducing gender inequalities. There is also the need for more evidence on the extent to which reducing gender inequality in climate action leads to greater climate change and food system resilience. Moreover, most case studies come from sub-Saharan Africa or South Asia, with fewer studies from Southeast Asia, Latin America, North Africa and the Middle East.

This research would benefit from application of standardized tools, indicators and approaches to measuring these outcomes, in order to build evidence on which approaches work, under which conditions, and in which contexts. There are some available gender indicators for measuring the effect of CSA practices, services and technologies, including indicators on equity in decision-making, women's empowerment, intrahousehold food security and equity in the ownership of productive resources (Gutierrez-Montes et al. 2020). Various versions of the Women's Empowerment in Agriculture Index may be used to evaluate changes in women's agency as a result of climate change interventions (Alkire et al. 2013; Malapit et al. 2019). Another tool measures perceived empowerment outcomes (for women and men) of climate-smart interventions across political, social, economic and agricultural domains (Hariharan et al. 2020). New methods are being developed and tested to more easily collect data from rural women explore their experiences with CSA; including data collection through mobile phones (Eitzinger et al. 2022). Furthermore, Duffy et al. (2017) propose a set of national-level indicators for measuring gender, poverty, food security, nutrition and health status connected to CSA objectives.

While new tools are emerging to explore the gendered outcomes of climate interventions, few use intersectional approaches or include indicators of transformative change such as changing gender attitudes (e.g., masculinities). Beyond measuring outcomes, policymakers, project implementers and other stakeholders need capacity building to implement climate actions in a gender-responsive way. A review of knowledge, attitudes and practices of climate change adaptation programming implemented in Bangladesh, Ethiopia, Kenya and Mali noted that measurable targets and monitoring of implementation as well as *ex post* evaluation of program outcomes were lacking, and called for more capacity in these areas (Ragasa et al. 2013).

Despite more recent emphasis on the importance of transforming food systems under climate change (Steiner et al. 2020), understanding how gender inequalities drive food system outcomes (Njuki et al. 2022) and examining climate change impacts along agricultural value chains (Fanzo et al. 2018), this review found almost no literature on the intersection of gender, food systems and climate change. Most of the evidence on gender, climate change and food security in low-income countries is focused on agricultural production.

More evidence is needed to document gender differences in exposure to climate shocks and stressors along agricultural value chains and in different food environments, and how these overlap with existing inequalities such as women's more limited opportunities to engage in higher-value production or high-value nodes of agricultural value chains (Coles and Mitchell 2010; Masamha, Thebea, and Uzokwe 2018). Better understanding of how climate change will affect men's and women's livelihood strategies and opportunities along agricultural value chains would help devise gender-responsive strategies and interventions to increase men's and women's resilience, including through greater livelihood diversification and entrepreneurship.

REFERENCES

- Acosta, Mariola, Severine van Bommel, Margit van Wessel, Edidah L. Ampaire, Laurence Jassogne, and Peter H. Feindt. 2019. "Discursive Translations of Gender Mainstreaming Norms: The Case of Agricultural and Climate Change Policies in Uganda." *Women's Studies International Forum* 74 (January): 9–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2019.02.010</u>.
- Acosta, Mariola, Margit van Wessel, Severine van Bommel, and Peter H. Feindt. 2021. "Examining the Promise of 'the Local' for Improving Gender Equality in Agriculture and Climate Change Adaptation." *Third World Quarterly* 42 (6): 1135–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2021</u>.1882845.
- Adegbite, Olayinka O., and Charles L. Machethe. 2020. "Bridging the Financial Inclusion Gender Gap in Smallholder Agriculture in Nigeria: An Untapped Potential for Sustainable Development." *World Development* 127: 104755. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2019.104755</u>.
- Aelst, Katrien Van, and Nathalie Holvoet. 2016. "Intersections of Gender and Marital Status in Accessing Climate Change Adaptation: Evidence from Rural Tanzania." *World Development* 79 (March): 40–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2015.11.003</u>.
- Agadjanian, Victor, Sarah R. Hayford, and Natalie A. Jansen. 2021. "Men's Migration and Women's Mortality in Rural Mozambique." *Social Science & Medicine* 270: 113519. <u>https://doi .org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113519.</u>
- Agamile, Peter, and David Lawson. 2021. "Rainfall Shocks and Children's School Attendance: Evidence from Uganda." *Oxford Development Studies* 49 (3): 291–309. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080</u>/13600818.2021.1895979.
- Agarwal, Tripti, Prarthna Agarwal Goel, Hom Gartaula, Munmum Rai, Deepak Bijarniya, Dil Bahadur Rahut, and M. L. Jat. 2022. "Gendered Impacts of Climate-Smart Agriculture on Household Food Security and Labor Migration: Insights from Bihar, India." *International Journal of Climate Change Strategies and Management* 14 (1): 1–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108</u> /IJCCSM-01-2020-0004.
- Aheeyar, Mohamed, Kalani Samarakoon, and Sanjiv de Silva. 2021. "Bundled Weather Index Insurance Pilot for Drought-Affected Areas in Sri Lanka: Reaching Marginal Farmers". IWMI Working Paper No. 201. Colombo: International Water Management Institute. <u>https://doi .org/10.5337/2021.233</u>.
- Ahmad, Dilshad, Muhammad Afzal, and Abdur Rauf. 2021. "Flood Hazards Adaptation Strategies: A Gender-Based Disaggregated Analysis of Farm-Dependent Bait Community in Punjab, Pakistan." *Environment, Development and Sustainability* 23 (1): 865–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007</u> /s10668-020-00612-5.
- Akter, Sonia, Timothy J. Krupnik, Frederick Rossi, and Fahmida Khanam. 2016. "The Influence of Gender and Product Design on Farmers' Preferences for Weather-Indexed Crop Insurance." *Global Environmental Change* 38: 217–29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2016.03.010</u>.
- Algur, Kisan Dilip, Surendra Kumar Patel, and Shekhar Chauhan. 2021. "The Impact of Drought on the Health and Livelihoods of Women and Children in India: A Systematic Review." *Children and Youth Services Review* 122: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105909</u>.
- Alkire, Sabina, Ruth Meinzen-Dick, Amber Peterman, Agnes Quisumbing, Greg Seymour, and Ana Vaz. 2013. "The Women's Empowerment in Agriculture Index." *World Development* 52: 71–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2013.06.007</u>.
- Alston, M. and B. Akhter. 2016. "Gender and Food Security in Bangladesh: The Impact of Climate Change." *Gender, Place, & Culture* 23 (10): 1450–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080</u> /0966369X.2016.1204997.
- Alvi, Muzna, Prapti Barooah, Shweta Gupta, and Smriti Saini. 2021. "Women's Access to Agriculture Extension Amidst COVID-19: Insights from Gujarat, India and Dang, Nepal." *Agricultural Systems 188* (March): 103035. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2020.103035.</u>

- Ampaire, Edidah L., Mariola Acosta, Sofia Huyer, Ritah Kigonya, Perez Muchunguzi, Rebecca Muna, and Laurence Jassogne. 2020. "Gender in Climate Change, Agriculture, and Natural Resource Policies: Insights from East Africa." *Climatic Change* 158 (1): 43–60. <u>https://doi.org/10</u> .1007/s10584-019-02447-0.
- Ampaire E., Acosta M., Kigonya R., Kyomugisha S., Muchunguzi P., and Jassogne L. 2016. "Gender responsive policy formulation and budgeting in Tanzania: do plans and budgets match?" CCAFS Info Note. Copenhagen, Denmark: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS).
- Andersson Djurfeldt, Agnes. 2018. "Gender and Rural Livelihoods: Agricultural Commercialization and Farm/Non-Farm Diversification." In *Agriculture, Diversification, and Gender in Rural Africa: Longitudinal Perspectives from Six Countries*, edited by Agnes Andersson Djurfeldt, Fred Mawunyo Dzanku, and Aida Cuthbert Isinika, 81–112. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Anugwa, Ifeoma Q., Agwu E. Agwu, Murari Suvedi, and Suresh Babu. 2020. "Gender-Specific Livelihood Strategies for Coping with Climate Change-Induced Food Insecurity in Southeast Nigeria." *Food Security* 12 (5): 1065–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-020-01042-x</u>.
- Arora-Jonsson, Seema. 2011. "Virtue and Vulnerability: Discourses on Women, Gender and Climate Change." *Global Environmental Change* 21 (2): 744–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016</u> /j.gloenvcha.2011.01.005.
- Arora, Diksha, Jacobo Arango, Stefan Burkart, Ngonidzashe Chirinda, and Jennifer Twyman. 2017. "Gender [Im]Balance in Productive and Reproductive Labor among Livestock Producers in Colombia: Implications for Climate Change Responses." CCAFS Info Note.Copenhagen: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security. <u>https://doi.org/10568/79940</u>.
- Arwida, Shintia Dian, Cynthia Dewi Maharani, Bimbika Sijapati Basnett, and Anastasia Lucy Yang. 2017. "Gender Relevant Considerations for Developing REDD+ Indicators: Lessons Learned for Indonesia." CIFOR Info Brief No. 168. Center for International Forestry Research. <u>https://doi .org/10.17528/cifor/006398.</u>
- Assan, Elsie, Murari Suvedi, Laura Schmitt Olabisi, and Andrea Allen. 2018. "Coping with and Adapting to Climate Change: A Gender Perspective from Smallholder Farming in Ghana." *Environments* 5 (8): 86. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/environments5080086</u>.
- Azzarri, Carlo, and Gianluigi Nico. 2022. "Sex-Disaggregated Agricultural Extension and Weather Variability in Africa South of the Sahara." *World Development* 155: 105897. <u>https://doi .org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2022.105897</u>.
- Badstue, Lone, Anouka van Eerdewijk, Katrine Danielsen, Mahlet Hailemariam, and Elizabeth Mukewa. 2020. "How Local Gender Norms and Intra-Household Dynamics Shape Women's Demand for Laborsaving Technologies: Insights from Maize-Based Livelihoods in Ethiopia and Kenya." *Gender, Technology and Development* 24 (3): 341–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080</u> /09718524.2020.1830339.
- Bastakoti, G. B., and P. Doneys. 2020. "Gendered Perceptions of Climate Variability, Food Insecurity, and Adaptation Practices in Nepal." *Climate and Development* 12 (6): 547–563. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2019.1660604</u>.
- Beal, Catherine, Andrea Castellanos, Jesus David Martinez, Mathieu Ouédraogo, John Recha, Peter Laderach, and Osana Bonilla-Findji. 2021. "Gender and Youth Responsiveness Considerations for Targeting, Testing, and Scaling Suitable CSA Practices and Technologies: Learnings From the Climate-Smart Villages." CCAFS Working Paper No. 417. Wageningen, Netherlands: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security.
- Bernier, Quinn, Ruth Meinzen-Dick, Patti Kristjanson, Eric Haglund, Chiara Kovarik, Elizabeth Bryan, Claudia Ringler, and Silvia Silvestri. 2015. "Gender and Institutional Aspects of Climate-Smart Agricultural Practices: Evidence from Kenya." CCAFS Working Paper No. 79. Copenhagen: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Foods Security. <u>https://doi .org/10568/65680.</u>
- Beuchelt, Tina Désirée, and Lone Badstue. 2013. "Gender, Nutrition- and Climate-Smart Food Production: Opportunities and Trade-Offs." *Food Security* 5 (5): 709–21. <u>https://doi .org/10.1007/s12571-013-0290-8</u>.

- Bhatta, GD, PK Aggarwal, Santosh Poudel, and DA Belgrave. 2015. "Climate-Induced Migration in South Asia: Migration Decisions and Gender Dimensions of Adverse Climatic Events." *The Journal of Rural and Community Development* 10 (4): 1–23. <u>https://hdl.handle</u> <u>.net/10568/75788</u>.
- Björkman-Nyqvist, Martina. 2013. "Income Shocks and Gender Gaps in Education: Evidence from Uganda." *Journal of Development Economics* 105: 237–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j</u>.jdeveco.2013.07.013.
- Born, Lorna, Charles Spillane, and Una Murray. 2019. "Integrating Gender into Index-Based Agricultural Insurance: A Focus on South Africa." *Development in Practice* 29 (4): 409–23.
- Bryan, E., Alvi, M., Huyer, S., and Ringler, C. 2023. Addressing Gender Inequalities and Strengthening Women's Agency for Climate-resilient and Sustainable Food Systems. CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform Working Paper #013. Nairobi, Kenya: CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform. <u>https://hdl</u>.<u>handle.net/10568/129709</u>.
- Bryan, Elizabeth, Quinn Bernier, Marcia Espinal, and Claudia Ringler. 2018. "Making Climate Change Adaptation Programmes in Sub-Saharan Africa More Gender Responsive: Insights from Implementing Organizations on the Barriers and Opportunities." *Climate and Development* 10 (5): 417–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2017.1301870</u>.
- Bryan, Elizabeth, and Elisabeth Garner. 2022. Forthcoming. "Understanding the Pathways to Women's Empowerment in Northern Ghana and the Relationship with Small-Scale Irrigation." *Agriculture and Human Values*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10460-021-10291-1</u>.
- Bryan, Elizabeth, Edward Kato, and Quinn Bernier. 2021. "Gender Differences in Awareness and Adoption of Climate-Smart Agriculture Practices in Bangladesh." In *Gender, Climate Change, and Livelihoods: Vulnerabilities and Adaptations*, edited by J. Eastin and K. Dupuy, 123–42. Centre for Agriculture and Bioscience International.
- Bryan, Elizabeth, Claudia Ringler, and Ruth Meinzen-Dick. 2022. Forthcoming. "Gender, Resilience, and Food Systems." In *Resilience and Food Security in a Food Systems Context*, edited by C. Bene and S. Devereux. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Bryan, Elizabeth, Sophie Theis, Jowel Choufani, Alessandro De Pinto, Ruth Meinzen-Dick, and Claudia Ringler. 2017. "Gender-Sensitive, Climate-Smart Agriculture for Improved Nutrition in Africa South of the Sahara." In *A Thriving Agricultural Sector in a Changing Climate: The Contribution of Climate-Smart Agriculture to Malabo and Sustainable Development Goals*, edited by A. de Pinto and J. M. Ulimwengu, 114–35. ReSAKSS Annual Trends and Outlook Report 2016. Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute.
- Buechler, Stephanie. 2009. "Gender, Water, and Climate Change in Sonora, Mexico: Implications for Policies and Programmes on Agricultural Income-Generation." *Gender and Development* 17 (1): 51–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13552070802696912</u>.
- Cabot Venton, C., S. A. Prillaman, and J. Kim. 2021. *Building Resilience through Self Help Groups: Evidence Review*. Washington, DC: The Resilience Evaluation, Analysis, and Learning Award.
- Call, Maia, and Samuel Sellers. 2019. "How Does Gendered Vulnerability Shape the Adoption and Impact of Sustainable Livelihood Interventions in an Era of Global Climate Change?" *Environmental Research Letters* 14 (8).<u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab2f57</u>.
- Caretta, Martina Angela. 2014. "'Credit Plus' Microcredit Schemes: A Key to Women's Adaptive Capacity." *Climate and Development* 6 (2): 179–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2014</u> .886990.
- Carr, Edward R., and Sheila N. Onzere. 2018. "Really Effective (for 15% of the Men): Lessons in Understanding and Addressing User Needs in Climate Services from Mali." *Climate Risk Management* 22: 82–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crm.2017.03.002</u>.
- Chanamuto, Nicola J. C., and Stephen J. G. Hall. 2015. "Gender Equality, Resilience to Climate Change, and the Design of Livestock Projects for Rural Livelihoods." *Gender and Development* 23 (3): 515–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13552074.2015.1096041</u>.
- Chanana-Nag, Nitya, and Pramod K. Aggarwal. 2020. "Woman in Agriculture, and Climate Risks: Hotspots for Development." *Climatic Change* 158 (1): 13–27.<u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584</u> <u>-018-2233-z</u>.

- Chandra, Alvin, Karen E. McNamara, Paul Dargusch, Ana Maria Caspe, and Dante Dalabajan. 2017. "Gendered Vulnerabilities of Smallholder Farmers to Climate Change in Conflict-Prone Areas: A Case Study from Mindanao, Philippines." *Journal of Rural Studies* 50: 45–59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.jrurstud.2016.12.011</u>.
- Chigwanda, Ellen. 2016. A Framework for Building Resilience to Climate Change through Girls' Education Programming. 2016 Echidna Global Scholars Policy Brief. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution.
- Clarke, Tahlia, Karen E. McNamara, Rachel Clissold, and Patrick D. Nunn. 2019. "Community-Based Adaptation to Climate Change: Lessons from Tanna Island, Vanuatu." *Island Studies Journal* 14 (1): 59–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.24043/isj.80</u>.
- Clay, Nathan, and Karl S. Zimmerer. 2020. "Who Is Resilient in Africa's Green Revolution? Sustainable Intensification and Climate Smart Agriculture in Rwanda." *Land Use Policy* 97 (June): 104558. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2020.104558</u>.
- Coles, Christopher, and Jonathan Mitchell. 2010. "Gender and Agricultural Value Chains and Practice and Their Policy Implications. A Review of Current Knowledge and Practice and Their Policy Implications." ESA Working Paper No. 11-05: 29. FAO.
- Collins, Andrea. 2018. "Saying All the Right Things? Gendered Discourse in Climate-Smart Agriculture." *Journal of Peasant Studies* 45 (1): 175–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150</u> .2017.1377187.
- Cooper, M. 2018. "Using Natural Areas and Empowering Women to Buffer Food Security and Nutrition from Climate Shocks Evidence from Ghana, Zambia, and Bangladesh." IFPRI Discussion Paper 1717. Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute.
- Cooper, Matthew, Austin Sandler, Sveva Vitellozzi, Yeyoung Lee, Greg Seymour, Beliyou Haile, and Carlo Azzari. 2021. "Re-Examining the Effects of Drought on Intimate-Partner Violence." *PLoS ONE* 16 (July 7): 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0254346</u>.
- Dah-gbeto, Afiavi P., and Grace B. Villamor. 2016. "Gender-Specific Responses to Climate Variability in a Semi-Arid Ecosystem in Northern Benin." *Ambio* 45: 297–308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007</u>/s13280-016-0830-5.
- Dalaa, Mustapha Alasan, Gertrude Dzifa Torvikey, Alvin Amoah, Abdul-Razak Saeed, Faustina Obeng, Rich Kofi Kofituo, and Richard Asare. 2021. *Climate-Smart Cocoa: A Gender Transformative Approach*. Accra, Ghana: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security.<u>https://hdl.handle.net/10568/111474</u>.
- Dankelman, Irene. 2010. *Gender and Climate Change: An Introduction*. Edited by Irene Dankelman. *Gender and Climate Change: An Introduction*. London and Sterling, VA: Earthscan. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781849775274</u>.
- Dar, Manzoor H., Showkat A. Waza, Swati Nayak, Ritadhi Chakravorty, Najam W. Zaidi, and Mosharaf Hossain. 2020. "Gender Focused Training and Knowledge Enhances the Adoption of Climate Resilient Seeds." *Technology in Society* 63 (November): 101388. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j</u> .techsoc.2020.101388.
- Delaney, Patricia L., and Elizabeth Shrader. 2000. *Gender and Post-Disaster Reconstruction: The Case of Hurricane Mitch in Honduras and Nicaragua: Decision Review Draft*. Washington, DC: The World Bank.
- de Brauw, A., D. O. Gilligan, J. Hoddinott, and S. Roy. 2014. "The Impact of Bolsa Familia on Women's Decision-Making Power." *World Development* 59: 487–504.
- De Pinto, Alessandro, Greg Seymour, Elizabeth Bryan, and Prapti Bhandari. 2020. "Women's Empowerment and Farmland Allocations in Bangladesh: Evidence of a Possible Pathway to Crop Diversification." *Climatic Change* 163 (2): 1025–43.<u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-020</u> <u>-02925-w</u>.
- Dey, Anamika, Gurdeep Singh, and Anil K. Gupta. 2018. "Women and Climate Stress: Role Reversal from Beneficiaries to Expert Participants." *World Development* 103: 336–59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2017.07.026</u>.

- Diouf, Ndeye Seynabou, Mathieu Ouédraogo, Issa Ouédraogo, Gnalenba Ablouka, and Robert Zougmoré. 2020. "Using Seasonal Forecast as an Adaptation Strategy: Gender Differential Impact on Yield and Income in Senegal." *Atmosphere 11*, no. 10: 1127. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390</u> /atmos11101127.
- Djoudi, H., and M. Brockhaus. 2011. "Is Adaptation to Climate Change Gender Neutral? Lessons from Communities Dependent on Livestock and Forests in Northern Mali." *International Forestry Review* 13 (2): 123–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1505/146554811797406606</u>.
- Djoudi, Houria, Bruno Locatelli, Chloe Vaast, Kiran Asher, Maria Brockhaus, and Bimbika Basnett Sijapati. 2016. "Beyond Dichotomies: Gender and Intersecting Inequalities in Climate Change Studies." *Ambio* 45: 248–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-016-0825-2</u>.
- Doocy, S., A. Daniels, S. Murray, and T. D. Kirsch. 2013. "The Human Impact of Floods: A Historical Review of Events 1980-2009 and Systematic Literature Review." *PLoS Currents 16* (5).
- Duffy, Colm, Una Murray, Andreea Nowak, Evan Girvetz, Caitlin Corner-Dolloff, Jennifer Twyman, Sophia Huyer, Andy Jarvis, and Charles Spillane. 2017. "National Level Indicators for Gender, Poverty, Food Security, Nutrition and Health in Climate-Smart Agriculture (CSA) Activities." CCAFS Working Paper No. 195. CCAFS Working Paper. Copenhagen:CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security. <u>https://doi.org/10568/80722</u>.
- Duffy, Colm, Greg Toth, John Cullinan, Una Murray, and Charles Spillane. 2021. "Climate Smart Agriculture Extension: Gender Disparities in Agroforestry Knowledge Acquisition." *Climate and Development* 13 (1): 21–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2020.1715912</u>.
- Eastin, Joshua. 2018. "Climate Change and Gender Equality in Developing States." *World Development* 107: 289–305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2018.02.021</u>.
- Eitzinger, Anton, Osana Bonilla-Findji, Vanya Slavchevska, and Gordon Nikoi. 2022. *The 5Q Approach for Gender Data on Empowerment in Climate Adaptation Projects: Case Study in Ghana*. Wageningen, Netherlands: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9639.1993.tb00256.x</u>.
- Elias, M., Zaremba, H., Tavenner, K., Ragasa, C., Paez Valencia, A.M., Choudhury, A., and de Haan, N. 2023. *Beyond Crops: Toward Gender Equality in Forestry, Fisheries, Aquaculture and Livestock Development*. CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform Working Paper #012. Nairobi, Kenya: CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform. <u>https://hdl.handle.net/10568/129708</u>.
- ElDidi, Hagar, Chloe van Biljon, Muzna Alvi, Claudia Ringler, Nazmun Ratna, Sawsan Abdulrahim, Patrick Kilby, Joyce Wu, and Zahid ul Arefin Choudhury. 2022. Forthcoming. "Reducing Vulnerability to Forced Labour and Trafficking of Women Migrant Workers from South- to West-Asia." *Development in Practice*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09614524.2022.2059448</u>.
- Eriksen, Siri, E. Lisa F. Schipper, Morgan Scoville-Simonds, Katharine Vincent, Hans Nicolai Adam, Nick Brooks, Brian Harding, et al. 2021. "Adaptation Interventions and Their Effect on Vulnerability in Developing Countries: Help, Hindrance or Irrelevance?" *World Development* 141: 105383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2020.105383</u>.
- Erman, Alvina, Sophie Anne De Vries Robbé, Stephan Fabian Thies, Kayenat Kabir, and Mirai Maruo. 2021. *Gender Dimensions of Disaster Risk and Resilience Existing Evidence*. Washington, DC: The World Bank.
- Evans, D. K., M. Akmal, and P. Jakiela. 2020. "Gender Gaps in Education: The Long View." Working Paper No. 523. Washington, DC: Center for Global Development. <u>https://www.cgdev.org</u> /publication/gender-gaps-education-long-view.
- Evertsen, Kathinka Fossum, and Kees van der Geest. 2020. "Gender, Environment and Migration in Bangladesh." *Climate and Development* 12 (1): 12–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2019</u> .1596059.
- Falco, Salvatore Di, and Erwin Bulte. 2013. "The Impact of Kinship Networks on the Adoption of Risk-Mitigating Strategies in Ethiopia." *World Development* 43: 100–110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j</u>...<u>worlddev.2012.10.011</u>.
- Fanzo, Jessica, Claire Davis, Rebecca McLaren, and Jowel Choufani. 2018. "The Effect of Climate Change across Food Systems: Implications for Nutrition Outcomes." *Global Food Security* 18 (January): 12–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2018.06.001</u>.

- FAO. 2011. Women in Agriculture: Closing the Gender Gap for Development. State of Food and Agriculture 2010-11. Rome, Italy: FAO.
- FAO, IFAD, UNICEF, WFP, and WHO. 2021. The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2021: Transforming Food Systems for Food Security, Improved Nutrition, and Affordable Healthy Diets for All. In Brief to The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2021. Rome: FAO. <u>https://doi.org/10.4060/cb5409en</u>.
- FAO, IFAD, and WFP. 2020. "Gender Transformative Approaches for Food Security, Improved Nutrition and Sustainable Agriculture: A Compendium of Fifteen Good Practices." Rome: FAO.
- Farnworth, Cathy Rozel. 2011. "Gender-Aware Value Chain Development." Paper, Expert Group Meeting Enabling Rurual Women's Economic Empowerment: Institutions, Opportunities and Participation, Accra, Ghana September 2011. <u>https://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw</u>/csw56/egm/Farnworth-EP-1-EGM-RW-Sep-2011.pdf.
- Farnworth, Cathy Rozel, Frédéric Baudron, Jens A. Andersson, Michael Misiko, Lone Badstue, and Clare M. Stirling. 2016. "Gender and Conservation Agriculture in East and Southern Africa: Towards a Research Agenda." *International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability* 14 (2): 142–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14735903.2015.1065602</u>.
- Farnworth, Cathy Rozel, Tr[n Thu Hà, Björn Ole Sander, Eva Wollenberg, Nicoline C. de Haan, and Shawn McGuire. 2017. "Incorporating Gender into Low-Emission Development: A Case Study from Vietnam." *Gender, Technology and Development* 21 (1–2): 5–30.
- Farrin, Katie, and Mario J. Miranda. 2015. "A Heterogeneous Agent Model of Credit-Linked Index Insurance and Farm Technology Adoption." *Journal of Development Economics* 116: 199–211.
- Faucherre, Lucie. 2016. *Making Climate Finance Work for Women: Overview of Bilateral ODA to Gender and Climate Change*. OECD. <u>https://www.oecd.org/environment/making-climate-finance-work</u> <u>-for-women.htm</u>.
- Feeny, Simon, Ankita Mishra, Trong-Anh Trinh, Longfeng Ye, and Anna Zhu. 2021. "Early-Life Exposure to Rainfall Shocks and Gender Gaps in Employment: Findings from Vietnam." *Journal* of Economic Behavior & Organization 183: 533–54.
- Fischer, Elisabeth, and Matin Qaim. 2012. "Gender, Agricultural Commercialization, and Collective Action in Kenya." *Food Security* 4 (3): 441–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-012-0199-7</u>.
- Fisher, Monica, and Edward R. Carr. 2015. "The Influence of Gendered Roles and Responsibilities on the Adoption of Technologies That Mitigate Drought Risk: The Case of Drought-Tolerant Maize Seed in Eastern Uganda." *Global Environmental Change* 35: 82–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016</u> /j.gloenvcha.2015.08.009.
- Fletschner, Diana, and Lisa Kenney. 2014. "Rural Women's Access to Financial Services: Credit, Savings, and Insurance." In *Gender in Agriculture: Closing the Knowledge Gap*, edited by Agnes Quisumbing, Ruth Meinzen-Dick, Terri L. Raney, André Croppenstedt, Julia Behrman, and Peterman Amber. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Fouejieu, Armand, Ratna Sahay, Martin Cihak, and Shiyuan Chen. 2020. "Financial Inclusion and Inequality: A Cross-Country Analysis." *Journal of International Trade and Economic Development* 29 (8): 1018–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638199.2020.1785532</u>.
- Garcia, Alicea, Petra Tschakert, and Nana Afia Karikari. 2020. "'Less Able': How Gendered Subjectivities Warp Climate Change Adaptation in Ghana's Central Region." *Gender, Place and Culture* 0 (0): 1602–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0966369X.2020.1786017</u>.
- Gartaula, Hom, Tek Sapkota, Arun Khatri-Chhetri, Gokul Prasad, and Lone Badstue. 2020. "Gendered Impacts of Greenhouse Gas Mitigation Options for Rice Cultivation in India." *Climatic Change* 163 (2): 1045–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-020-02941-w</u>.
- Goh, Amelia H. X. 2012. "A Literature Review of the Gender-Differentiated Impacts of Climate Change On Women's and Men's Assets and Well-Being in Developing Countries." *CAPRi Working Paper No. 106.* Washington, DC: CAPRi Working Paper.
- Grasham, Catherine F., Marina Korzenevica, and Katrina J. Charles. 2019. "On Considering Climate Resilience in Urban Water Security: A Review of the Vulnerability of the Urban Poor in Sub Saharan Africa." *WIREs Water* 6 (3): 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wat2.1344</u>.

- Grillos, T. 2018. "Women's participation in environmental decision-making: Quasi-experimental evidence from northern Kenya." *World Development* 108: 115–130.
- Griscom, Bronson W., Jonah Busch, Susan C. Cook-Patton, Peter W. Ellis, Jason Funk, Sara M. Leavitt, Guy Lomax, et al. 2020. "National Mitigation Potential from Natural Climate Solutions in the Tropics." *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 375 (1794). <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0126</u>.
- Gumucio, T, J. Hansen, G. Nsengiyumva, E. Birachi, D. M. Kagabo, A. Rose, and Y. Munyangeri. 2020a. "Rwanda Climate Services for Agriculture: Qualitative Evaluation through a Gender Lens." *CCAFS Working Paper 315.* Wageningen, the Netherlands: CCAFS. <u>https://hdl.handle .net/10568/109139</u>.
- Gumucio, Tatiana, James Hansen, Sophia Huyer, and Tiff van Huysen. 2020b. "Gender-Responsive Rural Climate Services: A Review of the Literature." *Climate and Development* 12 (3): 241–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2019.1613216</u>.
- Gumucio, Tatiana, Jennifer Twyman, and Mónica Clavijo. 2017. *Gendered Perspectives of Trees on Farms in Nicaragua: Considerations for Agroforestry, Coffee Cultivation, and Climate Change.* Working Paper. Cali, Coluombia: CIAT, CCAFS, and CGIAR Research Program on Forests, Trees and Agroforestry. <u>https://doi.org/10568/78670</u>.
- Gutierrez-Montes, Isabel, Maureen Arguedas, Felicia Ramirez-Aguero, Leida Mercado, and Jorge Sellare. 2020. "Contributing to the Construction of a Framework for Improved Gender Integration into Climate-Smart Agriculture Projects Monitoring and Evaluation: MAP-Norway Experience." *Climatic Change* 158 (1): 93–106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-018-2231-1</u>.
- Haapala, Auni. 2019. "A Feminist Analysis of Oppressive and Emancipatory Potentialities within Technology-Prioritized Climate Change Adaptation Intervention: A Case Study from Phailom Community in Lao PDR." In *Gender Dimension of Climate Change Research in Agriculture: Case Studies in Southeast Asia*, edited by Thelma Romero Paris and Maria Fay Rola-Rubzen, 123–40. Los Banos, Laguna, Philippines and Wageningen, the Netherlands: Southeast Asian Regional Center for Graduate Study and Research in Agriculture (SEARCA) and CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS).
- Hariharan, Vinod K., Surabhi Mittal, Munmun Rai, Tripti Agarwal, Kailash C. Kalvaniya, Clare M. Stirling, and M. L. Jat. 2020. "Does Climate-Smart Village Approach Influence Gender Equality in Farming Households? A Case of Two Contrasting Ecologies in India." *Climatic Change* 158 (1): 77–90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-018-2321-0</u>.
- Hathi, P., D. Coffey, A. Thorat, and N. Khalid. 2021. "When Women Eat Last: Discrimination at Home and Women's Mental Health." *PLoS ONE* 16 (3): e0247065.
- Henriksson, Rebecka, Katharine Vincent, Emma Archer, and Graham Jewitt. 2021. "Understanding Gender Differences in Availability, Accessibility and Use of Climate Information among Smallholder Farmers in Malawi." *Climate and Development* 13 (6): 503–14. <u>https://doi.org/10</u> .1080/17565529.2020.1806777.
- Holmes, R. 2019. "Promoting gender equality and women's empowerment in shock-sensitive social protection." Working Paper 549. London, UK: Overseas Development Institute (ODI) and Australian Aid.
- Holmes, Rebecca, and Nicola Jones. 2013. "Key Concepts in Gender and Social Protection." In *Gender and Social Protection in the Developing World: Beyond Mothers and Safety Nets*, 14–34. Sydney, Australia: Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Hove, Mediel, and Thomas Gweme. 2018. "Women's Food Security and Conservation Farming in Zaka District-Zimbabwe." *Journal of Arid Environments* 149: 18–29.
- Huyer, Sophia. 2016. "Closing the Gender Gap in Agriculture." *Gender, Technology and Development* 20 (2): 105–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.2499/9780896293915_07</u>.

Huyer, Sophia. 2022. "Change for Good? Gender in the NDCs.".

Huyer, Sophia, Mariola Acosta, Tatiana Gumucio, and Jasmin Irisha Jim Ilham. 2020. "Can We Turn the Tide? Confronting Gender Inequality in Climate Policy." *Gender and Development* 28 (3): 571–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13552074.2020.1836817</u>.

- Huyer, Sophia, and Nitya Chanana. 2021. "Gender-Smart Agriculture: An Agenda for Gender and Socially Inclusive Climate-Resilient Agriculture." CCAFS Working Paper 404. Wageningen, the Netherlands: CCAFS.
- Huyer, Sophia, T. Gumucio, N. Chanana, L. Cramer, C. Mungai, Mathieu Ouédraogo, Elisabeth Simelton, Katie Tavenner, and Jennifer Twyman. 2019. "Learning and Action for Gender-Transformative Climate-Smart Agriculture." CCAFS Working Paper279. Wageningen, the Netherlands: CCAFS. <u>https://cgspace.cgiar.org/handle/10568/105556</u>.
- Huyer, Sophia, Tatiana Gumucio, Katie Tavenner, Mariola Acosta, Nitya Chanana, Arun Khatri-Chhetri, Catherine Mungai, et al. 2021. "From Vulnerability to Agency in Climate Adaptation and Mitigation." In Advancing Gender Equality through Agriculture and Environmental Research: Past, Present, and Future, 261–94. Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute. https://www.ifpri.org/publication/vulnerability-agency-climate-adaptation-and-mitigation.
- Huyer, Sophia, and Samuel Partey. 2020. "Weathering the Storm or Storming the Norms? Moving Gender Equality Forward in Climate-Resilient Agriculture: Introduction to the Special Issue on Gender Equality in Climate-Smart Agriculture: Approaches and Opportunities." *Climatic Change* 158 (1): 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-019-02612-5</u>.
- Huyer, Sophia, Elisabeth Simelton, Nitya Chanana, Annet Abenakyo Mulema, and Edwige Marty. 2021. "Expanding Opportunities: A Framework for Gender and Socially-Inclusive Climate Resilient Agriculture." *Frontiers in Climate* 3 (December): 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389</u> /fclim.2021.718240.
- IFAD. 2018. "How to Do Design of Gender Transformative Smallholder." Rome: IFAD.
- IPCC. 2022. "Summary for Policymakers." In Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, edited by H. O. Pörtner, D. C. Roberts, E. S. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, M. Tignor, A. Alegría, M. Craig, et al., 37. Cambridge University Press.
- Janzen, Sarah A., Michael R. Carter, and Munenobu Ikegami. 2021. "Can Insurance Alter Poverty Dynamics and Reduce the Cost of Social Protection in Developing Countries?" *Journal of Risk and Insurance* 88 (2): 293–324.
- Jensen, Nathaniel, and Christopher Barrett. 2017. "Agricultural Index Insurance for Development." Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy 39 (2): 199–219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aepp//ppw022</u>.
- Johnson, Nancy, Mysbah Balagamwala, Crossley Pinkstaff, Sophie Theis, Ruth Meinzen-Dick, and Agnes Quisumbing. 2018. "How Do Agricultural Development Projects Empower Women? Linking Strategies with Expected Outcomes." *Journal of Gender, Agriculture and Food Security* 3 (2): 1–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.19268/JGAFS.322018.1</u>.
- Jones, Nicola, Rebecca Holmes, Elizabeth Presler-Marshall, and Maria Stavropoulou. 2017. "Transforming Gender Constraints in the Agricultural Sector: The Potential of Social Protection Programmes." *Global Food Security* 12 (March): 89–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016</u> /j.gfs.2016.09.004.
- Joshi, Pramod K., Md Tajuddin Khan, and Avinash Kishore. 2019. "Heterogeneity in Male and Female Farmers' Preference for a Profit-Enhancing and Labor-Saving Technology: The Case of Direct-Seeded Rice (DSR) in India." *Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics* 67 (3): 303–20. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1111/cjag.12205</u>.
- Jost, Christine, Florence Kyazze, Jesse Naab, Sharmind Neelormi, James Kinyangi, Robert Zougmoré, Pramod Aggarwal, et al. 2016. "Understanding Gender Dimensions of Agriculture and Climate Change in Smallholder Farming Communities." *Climate and Development* 8 (2): 133–44. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2015.1050978</u>.
- Karlan, Dean, Robert Osei, Isaac Osei-Akoto, and Christopher Udry. 2014. "Agricultural Decisions after Relaxing Credit and Risk Constraints." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 129 (2): 597–652.
- Karlsson, Linus, Lars Otto Naess, Andrea Nightingale, and John Thompson. 2018. "'Triple Wins' or 'Triple Faults'? Analysing the Equity Implications of Policy Discourses on Climate-Smart Agriculture (CSA)." *Journal of Peasant Studies* 45 (1): 150–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080</u> /03066150.2017.1351433.

- Khalil, Momtaj Bintay, Brent C. Jacobs, Kylie McKenna, and Natasha Kuruppu. 2020. "Female Contribution to Grassroots Innovation for Climate Change Adaptation in Bangladesh." *Climate and Development* 12 (7): 664–76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2019.1676188</u>.
- Khatri-Chhetri, Arun, P. K. Aggarwal, P. K. Joshi, and S. Vyas. 2017. "Farmers' Prioritization of Climate-Smart Agriculture (CSA) Technologies." *Agricultural Systems* 151: 184–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2016.10.005</u>.
- Kiptot, Evelyne, and Steven Franzel. 2012. "Gender and Agroforestry in Africa: A Review of Women's Participation." *Agroforestry Systems* 84 (1): 35–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10457-011-9419-y</u>.
- Knippenberg, Erwin, and John F. Hoddinott. 2017. "Shocks, Social Protection, and Resilience: Evidence from Ethiopia" | IFPRI : International Food Policy Research Institute." Strategy Support Program Working Paper 109. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: IFPRI. <u>https://www.ifpri.org</u> /publication/shocks-social-protection-and-resilience-evidence-ethiopia.
- Köhler-Rollefson, Ilse. 2012. "Invisible Guardians: Women Manage Livestock Diversity." FAO Animal Production and Health Paper No. 174. Rome, Italy: FAO.
- Koo, Jawoo, Carlo Azzarro, Avni Mishra, Els Lecoutere, Ranjitha Puskur, Nitya Chanana, N. Singaraju, and Gianluigi Nico. 2022. "Climate-Agriculture-Gender Inequity Hotspot Mapping: A Methodology." CGIAR GENDER Platform Working Paper 005. Nairobi, Kenya: CGIAR GENDER Platform. <u>https://hdl.handle.net/10568/119602</u>.
- Kosec, K., Hidrobo, M., Gartaula, H., Van Campenhout, B., and Carrillo, L. 2023. *Making Complementary Agricultural Resources, Technologies and Services More Gender Responsive*. CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform Working Paper #010. Nairobi, Kenya: CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform. <u>https://hdl.handle.net/10568/129706</u>.
- Kristjanson, Patricia, Elizabeth Bryan, Quinn Bernier, Jennifer Twyman, Ruth Meinzen-Dick, Caitlin Kieran, Claudia Ringler, Christine Jost, and Cheryl Doss. 2017. "Addressing Gender in Agricultural Research for Development in the Face of a Changing Climate: Where Are We and Where Should We Be Going?" *International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability* 15 (5): 482–500. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14735903.2017.1336411</u>.
- Kristjanson, Patti, Ann Waters-Bayer, Nancy Johnson, Annita Tipilda, Jemimah Njuki, Isabelle Baltenweck, Delia Grace, and Susan MacMillan. 2014. "Livestock and Women's Livelihoods." In *Livestock and Women's Livelihoods*, edited by A. Quisumbing, R. Meinzen-Dick, T. Raney, A. Croppenstedt, J. Behrman, and A. Peterman, 209–233. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Kumar, Neha, Kalyani Raghunathan, Alejandra Arrieta, Amir Jilani, and Shinjini Pandey. 2021. "The Power of the Collective Empowers Women: Evidence from Self-Help Groups in India." *World Development* 146: 105579. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2021.105579</u>.
- Kwauk, C., and A. Braga. 2017. "Three Platforms for Girls' Education in Climate Strategies." Brooke Shearer Series: 6. Washington, DC: Global Economy and Development at Brookings.
- Lecoutere, E., Achandi, E., Ampaire, E.L., Fischer, G., Gumucio, T., Najjar, D., and Singaraju, N. 2023. *Fostering an Enabling Environment for Equality and Empowerment in Agri-food Systems*. CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform Working Paper #009. Nairobi, Kenya: CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform. <u>https://hdl.handle.net/10568/129705</u>.
- Lecoutere, E., Kosec, K., Quisumbing, A., Elias, M., Bryan, E., and Puskur, R. 2023. *Equality and Empowerment by Gender and Intersecting Social Differentiation in Agri-food Systems: Setting the Stage*. CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform Working Paper #008. Nairobi, Kenya: CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform. <a href="https://htttps://https://ht
- Lee, J., A. Martin, P. Kristjanson, and E. Wollenberg. 2015. "Implications on Equity in Agricultural Carbon Market Projects: A Gendered Analysis of Access, Decision Making, and Outcomes." *Environment and Planning A* 47 (10): 2080–96. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi</u> .org/10.1177/0308518X15595897.
- Lee, Yeyoung, Beliyou Haile, Greg Seymour, and Carlo Azzarri. 2021. "The Heat Never Bothered Me Anyway: Gender-Specific Response of Agricultural Labor to Climatic Shocks in Tanzania." *Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy* 43 (2): 732–49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/aepp.13153</u>.

- Lei, Lei, and Sonalde Desai. 2021. "Male Out-Migration and the Health of Left-behind Wives in India: The Roles of Remittances, Household Responsibilities, and Autonomy." *Social Science and Medicine* 280 (May): 113982. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.113982</u>.
- Löw, Christine. 2020. "Gender and Indigenous Concepts of Climate Protection: A Critical Revision of REDD+ Projects." *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 43: 91–98.
- Macours, Karen, Premand, Patrick, and Vakis, Renos. 2012. "Transfers, Diversification and Household Risk Strategies: Experimental Evidence with Lessons for Climate Change Adaptation." *Policy Research Working Paper No. 6053*. Washington, DC: World Bank. <u>https://openknowledge</u> .worldbank.org/handle/10986/6055.
- Magassa, M., S. T. Partey, P. Houessionon, S. Dembele, R. M. Ouédraogo, and R. B. Zougmoré. 2020. "Towards Gender-Informed Adaptation Planning in the Sudanian Zone of Mali: Analysis of Climate Change Vulnerability." CCAFS Working Paper No. 310. Wageningen, Netherlands: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security. <u>https://doi.org/10568/108640</u>.
- Malapit, H., A. Quisumbing, Ruth Meinzen-Dick, Greg Seymour, Elena M. Martinez, Jessica Heckert, Deborah Rubin, Ana Vaz, and Kathryn M. Yount. 2019. "Development of the Project-Level Women's Empowerment in Agriculture Index (pro-WEAI)." *World Development* 122: 675–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2019.06.018</u>.
- Marimo, Pricilla, Gloria Otieno, Esther Njuguna-Mungai, Ronnie Vernooy, Michael Halewood, Carlo Fadda, John Wasswa Mulumba, Desterio Ondieki Nyamongo, and Margaret Mollel. 2021. "The Role of Gender and Institutional Dynamics in Adapting Seed Systems to Climate Change: Case Studies from Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda." *Agriculture (Switzerland)* 11 (9): 1–26. <u>https://doi</u> .org/10.3390/agriculture11090840.
- Martorell, Reynaldo, and Amanda Zongrone. 2012. "Intergenerational Influences on Child Growth and Undernutrition." *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology* 26 (SUPPL. 1): 302–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3016.2012.01298.x</u>.
- Masamha, Blessing, Vusilizwe Thebea, and Veronica N. E. Uzokwe. 2018. "Mapping Cassava Food Value Chains in Tanzania's Smallholder Farming Sector: The Implications of Intra-Household Gender Dynamics." *Journal of Rural Studies* 58: 82–92. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016</u> /j.jrurstud.2017.12.011.
- Masson, Virginie Le. 2022. "Disasters, Climate Change, and Violence Against Women and Girls." Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Natural Hazard Science June: 1–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093</u> /acrefore/9780199389407.013.393.
- Meinzen-Dick, Ruth, Agnes Quisumbing, Cheryl Doss, and Sophie Theis. 2019. "Women's Land Rights as a Pathway to Poverty Reduction: Framework and Review of Available Evidence." *Agricultural Systems* 172 (November): 72–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2017.10.009</u>.
- Mersha, Azeb Assefa, and Frank Van Laerhoven. 2016. "A Gender Approach to Understanding the Differentiated Impact of Barriers to Adaptation: Responses to Climate Change in Rural Ethiopia." *Regional Environmental Change* 16 (6): 1701–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113</u> -015-0921-z.
- Mittal, Surabhi. 2016. "Role of Mobile Phone-Enabled Climate Information Services in Gender-Inclusive Agriculture." *Gender, Technology and Development* 20 (2): 200–217. <u>https://doi .org/10.1177/0971852416639772</u>.
- Molyneux, Maxine, and Marilyn Thomson. 2011. "Cash Transfers, Gender Equity and Women's Empowerment in Peru, Ecuador and Bolivia." *Gender and Development* 19 (2): 195–212. https://doi.org/10.1080/13552074.2011.592631.
- Moser, Caroline O. N. 2017. "Gender Transformation in a New Global Urban Agenda: Challenges for Habitat III and Beyond." *Environment and Urbanization* 29 (1): 221–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0956247816662573</u>.
- Murage, A. W., J. O. Pittchar, C. A. O. Midega, C. O. Onyango, and Z. R. Khan. 2015. "Gender Specific Perceptions and Adoption of the Climate-Smart Push-Pull Technology in Eastern Africa." *Crop Protection* 76: 83–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2015.06.014</u>.

- Murray, Una, Zewdy Gebremedhin, Galina Brychkova, and Charles Spillane. 2016. "Smallholder Farmers and Climate Smart Agriculture: Technology and Labor-Productivity Constraints amongst Women Smallholders in Malawi." *Gender, Technology and Development* 20 (2): 117–48. https://doi.org/10.1177/0971852416640639.
- Mutenje, Munyaradzi Junia, Cathy Rozel Farnworth, Clare Stirling, Christian Thierfelder, Walter Mupangwa, and Isaiah Nyagumbo. 2019. "A Cost-Benefit Analysis of Climate-Smart Agriculture Options in Southern Africa: Balancing Gender and Technology." *Ecological Economics* 163 (May): 126–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2019.05.013</u>.
- Muttarak, Raya, and Wolfgang Lutz. 2014. "Is Education a Key to Reducing Vulnerability to Natural Disasters and Hence Unavoidable Climate Change?" *Ecology and Society* 19 (1). <u>https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-06476-190142</u>.
- Nchu, Innocent Ngiehnu, Jude Ndzifon Kimengsi, and Gerald Kapp. 2019. "Diagnosing Climate Adaptation Constraints in Rural Subsistence Farming Systems in Cameroon: Gender and Institutional Perspectives." *Sustainability (Switzerland)* 11 (14): 3767.<u>https://doi.org/10.3390</u> /su1143767.
- Neumayer, Eric, and Thomas Plümper. 2007. "The Gendered Nature of Natural Disasters: The Impact of Catastrophic Events on the Gender Gap in Life Expectancy, 1981-2002." *Annals of the Association of American Geographers* 97 (3): 551–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467</u> <u>-8306.2007.00563.x</u>.
- Ngigi, Marther W., Ulrike Mueller, and Regina Birner. 2017. "Gender Differences in Climate Change Adaptation Strategies and Participation in Group-Based Approaches: An Intra-Household Analysis From Rural Kenya." *Ecological Economics* 138: 99–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016</u> /j.ecolecon.2017.03.019.
- Nhat Lam Duyen, Tran, Roberto F. Rañola, Bjoern Ole Sander, Reiner Wassmann, Nguyen Dinh Tien, and Nong Nguyen Khanh Ngoc. 2021. "A Comparative Analysis of Gender and Youth Issues in Rice Production in North, Central, and South Vietnam." *Climate and Development* 13 (2): 115–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2020.1734771</u>.
- Nico, Gianluigi, and Carlo Azzarri. 2022. "Weather Variability and Extreme Shocks in Africa." IFPRI Discussion Paper 2115. Washington, DC: IFPRI.
- Njuki, J., S. Eissler, H. Malapit, R. Meinzen-Dick, E. Bryan, and A. Quisumbing. 2022. *A Review of Evidence on Gender Equality, Women's Empowerment, and Food Systems*. Bonn: Center for Development Research (ZEF) in cooperation with the Scientific Group for the UN Food System Summit 2021. <u>https://doi.org/10.48565/scfss2021-1q69</u>.
- Njuki, Jemimah, Melesse, Martha, Ng'weno, Amolo, Rappoldt, Anne, Phelane, Comfort, d'Anjou, Jesse, Hassan, Michelle, Ketley, Richard, and Vossenberg, Saskia. 2019. "Beyond access: Gender-transformative financial inclusion in agriculture and entrepreneurship." In 2019 Annual trends and outlook report: Gender equality in rural Africa: From commitments to outcomes, edited by Quisumbing, Agnes R., Meinzen-Dick, Ruth Suseela, and Njuki, Jemimah, 57–82. Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI). <u>https://doi .org/10.2499/9780896293649_05</u>.
- Njuki, Jemimah, Elizabeth Waithanji, Beatrice Sakwa, Juliet Kariuki, Elizabeth Mukewa, and John Ngige. 2014. "A Qualitative Assessment of Gender and Irrigation Technology in Kenya and Tanzania." *Gender, Technology and Development* 18 (3): 303–40. <u>https://doi</u> .org/10.1177/0971852414544010.
- Nkengla-asi, Lilian, Suresh Chanda Babu, Holger Kirscht, Scarlett Apfelbacher, Rachid Hanna, and Amare Tegbaru. 2017. "Gender, Climate Change, and Resilient Food Systems: Lessons from Strategic Adaptation by Smallholder Farmers in Cameroon." IFPRI Working Paper 1658. Washington, DC: IFPRI. <u>http://ebrary.ifpri.org/cdm/ref/collection/p15738coll2/id/131351</u>.
- Oloukoi, Grace, Mayowa Fasona, Felix Olorunfemi, Vide Adedayo, and Peter Elias. 2014. "A Gender Analysis of Perceived Climate Change Trends and Ecosystems-Based Adaptation in the Nigerian Wooded Savannah." *Agenda: Empowering Women for Gender Equity* 28 (3): 16–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10130950.2014.949477</u>.

- Otieno G, Lacasse H, Adokorach J, Mulumba J. W., Recha J. W., Reynolds T. W., Fadda C. 2018. "Social Seed Networks for Climate Change Adaptation in Uganda: Strategies to Improve Access to Genetic Diversity and Information." CCAFS Info note. Wageningen, Netherlands: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS). <u>https://hdl</u>..<u>handle.net/10568/93207</u>.
- Otieno, Gloria, Wesley Mlsna Zebrowski, John Recha, and Travis William Reynolds. 2021. "Gender and Social Seed Networks for Climate Change Adaptation: Evidence from Bean, Finger Millet, and Sorghum Seed Systems in East Africa." *Sustainability (Switzerland)* 13 (4): 1–24. <u>https:// doi.org/10.3390/su13042074</u>.
- Paris, Thelma R., and Truong Thi Ngoc Chi. 2005. "The Impact of Row Seeder Technology on Women Labor: A Case Study in the Mekong Delta, Vietnam." *Gender, Technology and Development* 9 (2): 157–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/097185240500900201</u>.
- Partey, Samuel T., Angela D. Dakorah, Robert B. Zougmoré, Mathieu Ouédraogo, Mary Nyasimi, Gordon K. Nikoi, and Sophia Huyer. 2020. "Gender and Climate Risk Management: Evidence of Climate Information Use in Ghana." *Climatic Change* 158: 61–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007</u> /s10584-018-2239-6.
- Paudyal, Bimala Rai, Nitya Chanana, Arun Khatri-Chhetri, Lakpa Sherpa, Ishwori Kadariya, and Pramod Aggarwal. 2019. "Gender Integration in Climate Change and Agricultural Policies: The Case of Nepal." *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems* 3 (August): 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389</u> /fsufs.2019.00066.
- Perez, C., E. M. Jones, P. Kristjanson, L. Cramer, P. K. Thornton, W. Förch, and C. Barahona. 2015. "How Resilient Are Farming Households and Communities to a Changing Climate in Africa? A Gender-Based Perspective." *Global Environmental Change* 34: 95–107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016</u> /j.gloenvcha.2015.06.003.
- Pham, T. T., Y. H. Mai, M. Moeliono, and M. Brockhaus. 2016. "Women's Participation in REDD+ National 334 Decision-Making in Vietnam." *The International Forestry Review* 18 (3): 334–44.
- Premand, Patrick, and Quentin Stoeffler. 2020. "Do Cash Transfers Foster Resilience? Evidence from Rural Niger." *World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 9473*. Washington, DC: World Bank. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10986/34774</u>.
- Puskur, R., Jumba, H., Reddy, B., Etale, L., Ragasa, C., Mishra, A., Mangheni, M.N., Nchanji, E., and Cole, S. 2023. *Closing Gender Gaps in Productivity to Advance Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment*. CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform Working Paper #014. Nairobi, Kenya: CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform. <u>https://hdl.handle.net/10568/129710</u>.
- Quisumbing, A. R., Neha Kumar, and Julia A. Behrman. 2018. "Do Shocks Affect Men's and Women's Assets Differently? Evidence from Bangladesh and Uganda." *Development Policy Review* 36 (1): 3–34.
- Quisumbing, A. R, and N. Kumar. 2014. "Land Rights Knowledge and Conservation in Rural Ethiopia: Mind the Gender Gap." IFPRI Discussion Paper 1386. Washington, DC: IFPRI Discussion Paper.
- Quisumbing, A., Cole, S., Elias, M., Faas, S., Galiè, A., Malapit, H., Meinzen-Dick, R., Myers, E., Seymour, G., and Twyman, J. 2023. *Measuring Women's Empowerment in Agriculture: Innovations and Evidence*. CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform Working Paper #011. Nairobi, Kenya: CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform. <u>https://hdl.handle.net/10568/129707</u>.
- Ragasa, Catherine, Yan Sun, Elizabeth Bryan, Caroline Abate, Atlaw Alemu Tarekegn, and Mahamadou Namori Keita. 2013. "Organizational and Institutional Issues in Climate Change Adaptation and Risk Management: Insights from Practitioners' Survey in Bangladesh, Ethiopia, Kenya, and Mali." IFPRI Discussion Paper 1279. Washington, DC: IFRPI. <u>https://doi.org/10.2139</u> /ssrn.2310078.
- Rajkarnikar, Pratistha Joshi. 2020. "Male Migration and Women's Decision-Making in Nepal." *Rev Econ Household* 18: 959–82.
- Rakib, Muntaha, and Julia Anna Matz. 2016. "The Impact of Shocks on Gender-Differentiated Asset Dynamics in Bangladesh." *Journal of Development Studies* 52 (3): 377–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2015.1093117</u>.

- Rao, Nitya, Elaine T. Lawson, Wapula N. Raditloaneng, Divya Solomon, and Margaret N. Angula. 2019. "Gendered Vulnerabilities to Climate Change: Insights from the Semi-Arid Regions of Africa and Asia." *Climate and Development* 11 (1): 14–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2017.1372266</u>.
- Rao, Nitya, Arabinda Mishra, Anjal Prakash, Chandni Singh, Ayesha Qaisrani, Prathigna Poonacha, Katharine Vincent, and Claire Bedelian. 2019. "A Qualitative Comparative Analysis of Women's Agency and Adaptive Capacity in Climate Change Hotspots in Asia and Africa." *Nature Climate Change* 9 (12): 964–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-019-0638-y</u>.
- Ravera, Federica, Victoria Reyes-García, Unai Pascual, Adam G. Drucker, David Tarrasón, and Mauricio
 R. Bellon. 2019. "Gendered Agrobiodiversity Management and Adaptation to Climate Change:
 Differentiated Strategies in Two Marginal Rural Areas of India." *Agriculture and Human Values* 36 (3): 455–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10460-018-09907-w</u>.
- Rengalakshmi, R., M. Manjula, and M. Devaraj. 2018. "Making Climate Information Communication Gender Sensitive." *Review of Women's Studies* LIII (17): 87–96.
- Resurreccion, Bernadette, Bee Beth, Irene Dankelman, Clara Mi Young Park, Mousimi Haldar, and Catherine McMullen. 2019. "Gender-Transformative Climate Change Adaptation: Advancing Social Equity." Background Paper to the 2019 Report of the Global Commission on Adaptation. Rotterdam and Washington, DC: Stockholm Environment Institute. <u>https://genderandsecurity</u>.org/projects-resources/research/gender-transformative-climate-change-adaptation -advancing-social-equity.
- Resurreccion, Bernadette P., Chanda Gurung Goodrich, Yiching Song, Aditya Bastola, Anjal Prakash, Deepa Joshi, Janwillem Liebrand, and Shaheen Ashraf Shah. 2019. "Resurreccion_ etal_2019_gender_social_exclusion_Himalayas.Pdf." In *The Hindu Kush Himalaya Assessment*, edited by P. Wester, A. Mishra, A. Mukherji, and A. Shrestha, 491–516. Springer. <u>https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-92288-1_14</u>.
- Rowntree, Oliver, Kalvin Bahia, Helen Croxson, Anne Delaporte, Michael Meyer, Matthew Shanahan, and Claire Sibthorpe. 2019. *The Mobile Gender Gap Report 2021*. GSMA Connected Women. <u>https://www.gsma.com/r/gender-gap-2021/</u>.
- Rubin, Deborah, Brenda Boonabaana, and Cristina Manfre. 2019. "Building an Inclusive Agriculture: Strengthening Gender Equality in Agricultural Value Chains." In *ReSAKKS 2019 Africa Trends and Outlook Report*, 83–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.2499/9780896293649</u>.
- Schalatek, Liane. 2021. "Core Steps to Increase Quality and Quantity of Gender-Responsive Climate Finance." Expert Paper Prepared for the UN Women Expert Group Meeting on 'Achieving Gender Equality and the Empowerment of All Women and Girls in the Context of Climate Change, Environmental and Disaster Risk Reduction Policies and Programmes.' Washington, DC.
- Schalatek, Liane. 2022. "Gender and Climate Finance." In *Climate Finance Fundamentals 10*. Washington, DC: Heinrich Böll Stiftung Washington. <u>https://us.boell.org/en/2022/03/04</u> /climate-finance-fundamentals-10-gender-and-climate-finance.
- Scheffran, Jürgen, Michael Brzoska, Jasmin Kominek, Michael P. Link, and Janpeter Schilling. 2012. "Climate Change and Violent Conflict." *Science* 336: 869–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126</u> /science.1221339.
- Schipper, E. Lisa F., Aromar Revi, Banjamin L. Preston, Edward. R. Carr, Siri H. Eriksen, Luis R. Fernández-Carri, Bruce Glavovic, et al. 2022. "Climate Resilient Development Pathways." In *IPCC WGII Sixth Assessment Report. Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability.* IPCC. <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/</u>.
- Schwarzer, Helmut, Clara van Panhuys, and Katharina Diekmann. 2016. *Protecting people and the environment. Lessons learnt from Brazil's Bolsa Verde, China, Costa Rica, Ecuador, Mexico, South Africa and 56 other experiences.* Extension of Social Security - Working Paper - ESS 54. International Labour Organization.<u>https://www.ilo.org/secsoc/information-resources</u> /publications-and-tools/Workingpapers/WCMS_538815/lang--en/index.htm.
- Sekabira, Haruna, and Matin Qaim. 2017. "Can Mobile Phones Improve Gender Equality and Nutrition? Panel Data Evidence from Farm Households in Uganda." *Food Policy* 73 (November): 95–103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2017.10.004</u>.

- Simelton, Elisabeth, Tuan Minh Duong, and Ella Houzer. 2021. "When the 'Strong Arms' Leave the Farms—Migration, Gender Roles and Risk Reduction in Vietnam." *Sustainability (Switzerland)* 13 (7). https://doi.org/10.3390/su13074081.
- Simelton, Elisabeth, Rachmat Mulia, Toan T. Nguyen, Tuan M. Duong, Hieu X. Le, Ly H. Tran, and Lucia Halbherr. 2021. "Women's Involvement in Coffee Agroforestry Value-Chains: Financial Training, Village Savings and Loan Associations, and Decision Power in Northwest Vietnam." CCAFS Working Paper 340. Wageningen, Netherlands: CCAFS.
- Sims, K. (2021). Education, girls' education and climate change (K4D Emerging Issues Report No. 29). Institute of Development Studies.
- Smucker, Thomas A., and Elizabeth Edna Wangui. 2016. "Gendered Knowledge and Adaptive Practices: Differentiation and Change in Mwanga District, Tanzania." *Ambio* 45 (s3): 276–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-016-0828-z</u>.
- Staffieri, Irene, Nicholas Sitko, and John Maluccio. 2022. "Sustaining School Enrolment When Rains Fail: A Gender Disaggregated Analysis of the Impacts of School Feeding Programmes on School Enrolment in the Context of Dry Shocks in Malawi." FAO Working Paper. Rome, Italy: FAO.
- Steiner, Achim, Grethel Aguilar, Khalid Bomba, Juan Pablo Bonilla, Andrew Campbell, Ruben Echeverria, Rikin Gandhi, Connie Hedegaard, Diane Holdorf, Naoka Ishii, Kenneth M. Quinn, Bas Ruter, Ishmael Sunga, Pavan Sukhdev, Sunny Verghese, Juergen Voegele, Paul Winters, B. Campbell, D. Dinesh, S. Huyer, A. Jarvis, A. M. Loboguerrero Rodriguez, A. Millan, P. Thornton, L. Wollenberg, and S. Zebiak. 2020. Actions to Transform Food Systems Under Climate Change. Wageningen, Netherlands: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security.
- Steinfield, L., and D. Holt. 2020. "Structures, Systems and Differences that Matter: Casting an Ecological-Intersectionality Perspective on Female Subsistence Farmers' Experiences of the Climate Crisis." *Journal of Macromarketing* 40 (4): 563–582.
- Sumner, Daniel, Maria Elisa Christie, and Stéphane Boulakia. 2017. "Conservation Agriculture and Gendered Livelihoods in Northwestern Cambodia: Decision-Making, Space and Access." Agriculture and Human Values 34 (2): 347–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10460-016-9718-z</u>.
- Sznajder, K. K., S. D. Harlow, J. Wang, L. Tso, Y. Ashagre, and C. Han. 2022. "Factors Associated with Symptoms of Poor Mental Health among Women Factory Workers in China's Supply Chain." International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007</u> /s00420-021-01820-w.
- Tadesse, Y., C. J. M. Almekinders, R. P. O. Schulte, and P. C. Struik. 2017. "Tracing the Seed: Seed Diffusion of Improved Potato Varieties through Farmers' Networks in Chencha, Ethiopia." *Experimental Agriculture* 53 (4): 481–496.
- Tall A, Kristjanson P, Chaudhury M, McKune S, Zougmoré R. 2014. *Who gets the Information? Gender, power and equity considerations in the design of climate services for farmers*. CCAFS Working Paper No. 89. Copenhagen, Denmark: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS). <u>https://hdl.handle.net/10568/49673</u>.
- Tandale, Dadasaheb. 2019. "Caste, Economic Inequality, and Climate Justice in India." In *Conference: The Social Practice of Human Rights*, 217–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009006545.009</u>.
- Tavenner, Katie, and Todd A. Crane. 2018. "Gender Power in Kenyan Dairy: Cows, Commodities, and Commercialization." *Agriculture and Human Values* 35 (3): 701–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007</u>/s10460-018-9867-3.
- Tavenner, Katie, Mark van Wijk, Simon Fraval, James Hammond, Isabelle Baltenweck, Nils Teufel, Esther Kihoro, et al. 2019. "Intensifying Inequality? Gendered Trends in Commercializing and Diversifying Smallholder Farming Systems in East Africa." *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems* 3 (February): 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2019.00010</u>.
- Teklewold, Hailemariam, Tagel Gebrehiwot, and Mintewab Bezabih. 2019. "Climate Smart Agricultural Practices and Gender Differentiated Nutrition Outcome: An Empirical Evidence from Ethiopia." *World Development* 122: 38–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j</u> .worlddev.2019.05.010.

- Tenzing, Janna D. 2020. "Integrating Social Protection and Climate Change Adaptation: A Review." WIREs Climate Change 11 (2): 1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.626</u>.
- Theis, Sophie, Bryan, Elizabeth, and Ringler, Claudia. 2019. "Addressing gender and social dynamics to strengthen resilience for all." In 2019 Annual trends and outlook report: Gender equality in rural Africa: From commitments to outcomes, edited by Quisumbing, Agnes R., Meinzen-Dick, Ruth Suseela, and Njuki, Jemimah, 126–139. Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI). <u>https://doi.org/10.2499/9780896293649_09</u>.
- Theis, Sophie, Nicole Lefore, Ruth Meinzen-Dick, and Elizabeth Bryan. 2018. "What Happens after Technology Adoption? Gendered Aspects of Small-Scale Irrigation Technologies in Ethiopia, Ghana, and Tanzania." *Agriculture and Human Values* 35 (3): 671–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007</u> /s10460-018-9862-8.
- Timu, Anne G, and Berber Kramer. 2021. "Gender-Inclusive, Responsive, and Transformative Agricultural Insurance: A Literature Review." CCAFS Working Paper 417. Wageningen, Netherlands: CCAFS. <u>https://hdl.handle.net/10568/117797</u>.
- Tschakert, Petra, and Mario Machado. 2012. "Gender Justice and Rights in Climate Change Adaptation: Opportunities and Pitfalls." *Ethics and Social Welfare* 6 (3): 275–89. <u>https://doi</u> .org/10.1080/17496535.2012.704929.
- Tsige, Meseret. 2019. "Who Benefits from Production Outcomes? Gendered Production Relations among Climate-Smart Agriculture Technology Users in Rural Ethiopia." *Rural Sociology* 84 (4): 799–825. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ruso.12263</u>.
- Twyman, Jennifer, Molly Green, Quinn Bernier, Patti Kristjanson, Sandra Russo, and Arame Tall. 2014. "Adaptation Actions in Africa : Evidence That Working Paper Adaptation Actions in Africa." CCAFS Working Paper 83. Wageningen, Netherlands: CCAFS.
- UNDP. 2016. "Gender Equality in National Climate Action: Planning for Gender-Responsive Nationally Determined Contributions." New York, NY. <u>https://www.undp.org/publications</u> /gender-equality-national-climate-action-planning-gender-responsive-nationally-determinedcontributions.
- Van Aelst, Katrien, and Nathalie Holvoet. 2020. "Bargaining Climate Adaptation Through a Gender Lens: An Inquiry into Decision-Making Processes in Tanzanian Farm Households." In Engendering the Energy Transition, edited by J. Clancy, G. Özerol, N. Mohlakoana, M. Feenstra, and L. Sol Cueva, 83–112. Palgrave Macmillan.<u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3</u> -030-43513-4_5.
- Violon, Chloé, Mathieu Thomas, and Eric Garine. 2016. "Good Year, Bad Year: Changing Strategies, Changing Networks? A Two-Year Study on Seed Acquisition in Northern Cameroon." *Ecology and Society* 21 (2). <u>https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-08376-210234</u>.
- Waithanji, Elizabeth, Jemimah Njuki, and Bagalwa Nabintu. 2013. "Gendered Participation in Livestock Markets." In *Women, Livestock Ownership and Markets*, edited by Jemimah Njuki and Pascal C. Sanginga. Routledge.
- Wekesah, Frederick M., Edna N. Mutua, and Chimaraoke O. Izugbara. 2019. "Gender and Conservation Agriculture in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Systematic Review." *International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability* 17 (1): 78–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14735903.2019.1567245</u>.
- Wong, Sam. 2016. "Can Climate Finance Contrbute to Gender Equity in Developing Countries?" *Journal of International Development* 28: 428–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jid</u>.
- Yadav, S. S., and Rattan Lal. 2018. "Vulnerability of Women to Climate Change in Arid and Semi-Arid Regions: The Case of India and South Asia." *Journal of Arid Environments* 149: 4–17.
- Glemarec, Yannick, Seemin Qayum, and Marina Olshanskaya. 2016. *Leveraging Co-Benefits Between Gender Equality and Climate Action for Sustainable Development*. New York: UN Women.
- Zagheni, Emilio, Raya Muttarak, and Erich Striessnig. 2015. "Differential Mortality Patterns from Hydro-Meteorological Disasters: Evidence from Cause-of-Death Data by Age and Sex." *Vienna Yearbook of Population Research* 13: 47–70. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/24770025</u>.

ANNEX AND GLOSSARY

Available at: <u>https://cgspace.cgiar.org/handle/10568/129709</u>.



Generating Evidence and New Directions for Equitable Results (GENDER) is CGIAR's impact platform designed to put equality and inclusion at the forefront of global agricultural research for development. The Platform is transforming the way gender research is done, both within and beyond CGIAR, to kick-start a process of genuine change toward greater gender equality and better lives for smallholder farmers everywhere.

gender.cgiar.org



CGIAR is a global research partnership for a food-secure future dedicated to reducing poverty, enhancing food and nutrition security, and improving natural resources.

<u>cgiar.org</u>